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Mr. Lee Wai Sang
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Mr. So Chi Hang
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Financial Highlights
b LS

Percentage

Year ended 30 June Change

BEAA=THLEE BOLLEE

2017 2016 Y%
HK$'000 HK$’000
TR THET

Revenue LON 99,094 132,719 (25.3)

Gross Profit EF 23,862 47,294 (49.5)

(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR)/ & (20,719) 11,508 (280.0)

Total Assets REE 95,681 48,443 97.5

Total Equity Fab o 68,705 8,883 673.4

Key Financial Ratios TEHBLE

Gross profit margin ER% 24.1% 35.6%
Net profit margin A= N/ATER 8.7%
Return on equity EnDR N/ATER 129.6%
Return on total assets BEERR N/ATER 23.8%
Current ratio BN L X 3.43 1.20
Quick ratio RE X 3.43 1.20
Gearing ratio BEAFRE N/ATE N/ATEF
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2017.

Review

During the Year, as some of the Group’s clients have slowed down in
implementing their business plans, the Group’s revenue mix was temporarily
adjusted to a higher proportion of interior solutions projects as compared
to the prior year. However, in the long run, the Group’s long-term strategy
is still focusing on increasing our market share in millwork and furniture
provision business. For the year ended 30 June 2017, the revenue and gross
profit of the Group were approximately HK$99.1 million and approximately
HK$23.9 million respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 25.3%
and 49.5%, respectively over the prior year. The Group recorded a loss of
approximately HK$20.7 million for the year as compared to a net profit of
approximately HK$11.5 million for the prior year.

Prospects

The successful completion of the Listing on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 12 September 2016 enabled us to step into the international
platform. Leveraging the years of experience in the high-end markets under
the belt of our management team and our long-standing working relations with
international brands, the Group is confident in the prospects.

During the Year, overseas offices have been set up in the U.S., Germany, ltaly
and Netherland and the Group is planning to establish more overseas offices to
actively explore business opportunities in the international markets. Moreover,
the Group’s research and development center has come into operation in
Hong Kong in February 2017 which enhanced the Group’s competitive edges
in the industry and compliment the Group’s future development.

Definitely, the Group will continue to focus on the provision of bespoke and
total interior design solutions as well as millwork and furniture provision and
facade fabrication. At the same time, the Group will seek to diversify the
business and look for potential business opportunities in the coming years to
establish a strong recurring income base. Based on the blueprint for our future
development to achieve long term value growth, the Board will endeavor to
maximize the interests of the Group and the Shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Appreciation )

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude and ~AAZRKREZESERLBHERBENEIAAFENZE
appreciation to the management and staff for their dedication during the Year. — ZARIE » RAMEHALEORE - TP - HEH -
I would also like to thank the Group’s shareholders, customers, suppliers, ~ ZBEZHLEBFHAZERETEENETALSE -
business partners and government authorities for their continued trust and

support over the years.

Lee Wai Sang TE
Chairman ZEE
Hong Kong, 29 September 2017 BE —T—tFNAZTNA
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEKEREEERE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The following table
sets out certain information about the Directors as at the date of this annual
report:

Name Age Position

g Fk B

EE

EZERNALRESAN  BRNANTESR=28
UFHTES - TREJINAFHRABEZ LA TER

Executive Directors

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Chief Financial Officer, Executive Director and Company Secretary

Executive Director and Project Director (Business Development)

HITES

Mr. Lee Wai Sang 53

FRELE $H IR TREIRBTESR

Mr. Lau King Lok 52

£l €S 520 BRMBEE BTEERAANE
Mr. Leung Pak Yin 43

RIaR %L BE WTESRBRAE(RHER)

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman 54 Executive Director and Financial Controller
EMEL S4p  RTESRHMBRE

Independent non-executive Directors

BUKHTES

Mr. So Chi Hang 51 Independent Non-executive Director
HEELE 51 BUFHITES

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John 56 Independent Non-executive Director
BT AL 565n  BMIGFMTES

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin 52 Independent Non-executive Director
EERLE 52 BUFMTES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Z{&%), aged 53, is one of the founders of the Group and
has been appointed as the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director since 18 March 2016. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. In addition,
he serves as an authorised representative of the Company (“Authorised
Representative”) pursuant to Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and director of
several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee is responsible for managing the
overall business operations and strategic planning of the Group. He has over
25 years of experience in the interior design industry. Prior to establishing the
Group in 1999, from 1997 to 1999, Mr. Lee was the director of Cross Design
Limited where he was responsible for overseeing the interior design work
streams and overall operations of the company. From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Lee
served as a senior interior designer of Bowden Dewar McFadzean Limited,
responsible for the interior design of office premises. Between 1989 and
1991, he was as an architect designer of Michael H.K. Wong Architects Inc.,
responsible for the interior design of buildings.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

In addition to his professional experience in the industry, Mr. Lee was also
keen to share his expertise with the next-generation interior designers. Mr. Lee
was the guest speaker of the design department of Vocational Training Council
to present the topic on “Professional Practice — Tender Document” and
“Professional Practice — Project Management” on 19 January 2001 and 20
March 2001 respectively. From September 2004 to August 2005, he served as
the external examiner for the higher diploma in interior & environment design
course, the higher diploma in interior design course, and the certificate in
design studies course of the Vocational Training Council. From October 2000
to January 2001, Mr. Lee was a visiting lecturer (part-time) of the School of
Design of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Lee obtained his master of arts degree in design from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in December 1999 and received a bachelor’s degree
in interior design from the University of Manitoba in May 1989. In addition,
he is a member of various international interior designer professional bodies.
Mr. Lee has been a certified holder of the National Council for Interior Design
Qualification in North America since April 1994, a professional member of
the American Society of Interior Designers in the United States since March
1995, a professional member of the International Interior Design Association in
the U.S. since 1995, a member of the Interior Designer of Canada in Canada
since 1994 and a registered interior designer and member of the Association of
Registered Interior Designers of Ontario in Canada since September 1989. He
has also been elected as an International Dual Member of the British Institute
of Interior Design since April 2016. Since May 2016, Mr. Lee has been fully
accredited as a design professional by the Society of British and International
Design.

Mr. Lee is the spouse of Ms. Leung and brother-in-law of Mr. Leung Pak
Yin, an executive Director. He is also a director of CGH (BVI), which has an
interest in the Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lau King Lok (B#%%), aged 52, joined the Group on 1 January 2016
and is the chief financial officer of the Group. He has been appointed as the
Company Secretary and an executive Director since 18 March 2016. Mr. Lau
also serves as a member of the Risk Management Committee, Authorised
Representative pursuant to Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and a director of a
subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Lau responsible for the overall management
of financial, human resources and administration of the Group. Mr. Lau has
over 25 years of experience in the accounting, auditing and corporate finance
fields. Prior to joining the Group, from October 2010 to December 2015,
Mr. Lau served as the executive director of Cypress Group of companies,
where he was responsible for the group’s daily operation. From December
1994 to August 2010, Mr. Lau served as the group finance and administration
manager, and subsequently as the chief financial officer of the North Asia
segment of the DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited (formerly known as C Y
Leung and Company), where he was responsible for the company’s finance
and treasury functions. From September 1990 to July 1994, Mr. Lau was
the division manager of accounts and administration department of P&O
Travel Limited, where he was responsible for the company’s accounting and
administration matters. From September 1987 to August 1990, Mr. Lau started
his career as an auditor in Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler (KPMG).
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Lau received a master’s degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia in December 2011. Mr. Lau has been a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January 2017. Mr. Lau has been
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales since February 2005. Mr. Lau is also an associate member of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since August 1998 and a certified tax adviser
since January 2013. Mr. Lau has been an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (previously known as the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants) since February 1993 and a fellow member since May
2000.

Mr. Leung Pak Yin (R{ER) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 43, joined the Group on
13 September 2006 and is a project director (business development) of the
Group. He has been appointed as an executive Director since 18 March
2016. Mr. Leung is also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Leung is responsible for client liaison and business development of the
Group. Mr. Leung has over 17 years of experience in sales and business
development. Prior to joining the Group, from 2004 to 2006, Mr. Leung served
as an account manager of Wharf T&T Limited, where he was responsible for
the company’s customers’ relations and sales management. Between 2001 and
2002, Mr. Leung was the business development manager of Magically Asia
Limited, where he was responsible for developing strategy and tactical plans
to drive the business, managing customer and partner relationships, handling
sales project and facilitating new product development. From 1998 to 1999,
Mr. Leung was an account manager of New World Telephone Limited, where
he was responsible for the management of sales and customers relations.

Mr. Leung received a bachelor of science degree from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 1996.

Mr. Leung is the brother-in-law of Mr. Lee and brother of Ms. Leung.

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman (38&#M) (“Mr. Lai”), aged 54, joined the Group
on 30 June 2004 and is the financial controller of the Group. He has been
appointed as an executive Director since 18 March 2016. Mr. Lai is also a
director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lai is responsible for
monitoring the overall performance of the finance department in producing the
Group’s financial statements, managing the Group’s cash position, responsible
for all the Group secretarial documents and filing, overseeing the audit and tax
issues and contributing to management team’s decisions regarding financial
strategy. He has over 25 years of experience in accounting and finance. Prior
to joining the Group, from June 1998 to December 2002, Mr. Lai served as
an accountant (re-titled from revenue accountant on 1 September 1999) of
Sunday O/B Mandarin Communications Limited, where he was responsible
for revenue and inventory functions at the finance department. From August
1994 to June 1998, Mr. Lai was employed by Daimler-Benz Purchasing
Coordination Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Daimler-Benz
AG, where his last position was an accountant and was responsible for all
financial functions of the company.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor of arts degree in economics from University
of Prince Edward lIsland (Canada) in May 1987 and a Master’s degree in
Practising Accounting from Monash University in November 2006. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January 2017, a
chartered professional accountant member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia, Canada since June 2015, an associate of
the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants since November 2011, a
full member of Certified Practising Accountants of Australia since September
2010, an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries since
September 2000 and an associate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators since September 2000.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. So Chi Hang (8 #&18) (“Mr. So”), aged 51, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since 22 August 2016. Mr. So is
also the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Risk
Management Committee. Mr. So is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the Board. Mr. So has over 25 years of experience
in finance with exposure in Hong Kong, the PRC, Australia, Taiwan and
Japan. Since October 2015, Mr. So has been the vice president of project
management of BSN Medical KK in Japan, where he was responsible for
guiding and monitoring the work of local outsourced accounting service
provider. Mr. So served as a business analyst consultant of STL Corp., Ltd from
May 2011 to December 2013, where he provided independent consultation
service in developing and monitoring the execution of business strategies.
He served as an associate director of KCS Management & Consultancy
(China) Co., Ltd from November 2008 to March 2011 and KCS Limited
from September 2007 to November 2008, where he supervised the account
servicing teams of the corporate accounting division. Mr. So held various
positions while he was with ACNielsen (China) Ltd from October 1997 to
April 2007 where his last position was the director of finance, where he was
responsible for the management of all finance and accounting operations.
He also served as an divisional accountant of the AFS Freight Management
Group in Australia from July 1993 to April 1997, where he was responsible
for accounting and taxation matters for the group’s non-Australian companies,
including Hong Kong and Shanghai, Papua New Guinea, New Zealand and
the U.S. From April 1991 to June 1993, Mr. So served as an accountant of AIA
Capital Corporation Limited. Before that, he served as the group accountant of
Desh Group from June 1990 till 1991. Mr. So started his career as an auditor of
Coopers & Lybrand from January 1989 to June 1990.

Mr. So obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia in August 1988. He has been a certified practicing
accountant of Australian Society of CPAs since October 1993.

S@EMERAMRDLT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® e o o 011

ESREHEEERE

BEAR-NN\LFLARGEREIFEAE(NEX)
RESBYRELEN YR TG+ ARBEMRS
ABNEREHRLIEMN - RE-F—tF - AERER
EZEEMNEE  B-T-RFNARANEREBTH
HEERTEREHMBENETEXSHMEs 8-
T+ -ARREFHFEESHAHENER B
“E-TENARRBNEHMLENEAGR 8%
TRENAERBERRANEAENEEURE_ZET
FNARRRFNERTHRARRENER -

BYFHITES

BEEAE(HEED) 51K BEZT—R"FNAAZTZ
AREZERBUFNITES - HELENABLEEGR
FMEEERA IR RREZEGRAREEZE
CREZRE HALAREEETERMESGRM
BYAE - HEEREE  hE RN AEREAESR
BBFNUBER BT -RFTAR  HAEEAR
ABSN Medical KKEVE R B2 EI8E  BREEREEE
BB RBRERNTIE - RZZ——FHAZ_F
—ZE+ZRHRE - HREEASTL Corp., Ld BIEHESH
WER RERREEEBRBOMTREBLAAR
BeBRZZTNGT—AZZF——F= AHEET
EERFA(PE)ERARNEIRE  TR_TTLFAN
AZZFF)\F+— AHREKCS Limited® BI85 - &
BEECKEHHPINEFREEN - HEAE-— ML
ETAZ-ZSLENABRRERR (FE)ERAA
REBZERL  MRFERBUANBLE A5
BReitgBNER - FME-NWN=FLAE- NNt
E70 A BERRMNETAFS Freight Management Group#)
HPIGHE ARZEEFRNRR (BHEEERLE
EREHEnT FERRER)NGHRIBEE R
—AM—FNAZ-ANZFRAEMB - HEEREAA
Capital Corporation Limited®) & &8 © JbAT - K—ANE
FRAZ-NNA—F K AEDesh Groupt & B &AM ©
BEER—N/\NE-AE-NNEE ABREEKE
SHMEBMOZEMN RAABELE-

R—AJNENR - REEEERAR T HABEESS
B RE-NAZEHARBRNEREHHLRNE
EETEE R



Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEREHEEERE

s o0 00008

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (8l A), aged 56, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 22 August 2016. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Lau is responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to the Board. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of
experience in architecture. From July 2012 to August 2013, he was the deputy
development and project director of Grandland Management Limited. He also
served as a senior manager of project development department of Hang Lung
(Administration) Ltd. from May 2011 to September 2011. Before that, he was a
project manager of Hutchison Whampoa Properties Limited from August 2005
to May 2011. He was a resident project manager — Shenzhen of Hutchison
Whampoa Properties Limited from May 2000 to October 2001. Mr. Lau was
the project manager of China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd. from May 1997
to May 2000 and Henderson (China) Investment Co., Ltd. from July 1994 to
May 1997 respectively. Before that, he served as a project architect of Wong
& Ouyang from September 1993 to July 1994. Mr. Lau started his career as an
assistant architect of Leigh & Orange Ltd. from May 1988 to April 1992 and
served as a project architect between April 1992 and March 1993.

Mr. Lau obtained a master’s degree of architecture and a bachelor’s degree
of environmental studies from the University of Manitoba in Canada in May
1988 and October 1985. Mr. Lau is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Architects since September 1992. He is also a registered architect of the
Architects Registration Board under Architects Registration Ordinance (Cap.
408 of the Laws of Hong Kong) since October 1992 and authorized person
under section 3 of the Building Ordinance (Cap. 123 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) since August 1992.

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin ((2IE4) (“Mr. Heng"), aged 52, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 22 August 2016.
He is also the chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. Mr. Heng is responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to the Board. He has over 20 years of experience in banking and
finance. Mr. Heng was an independent non-executive director of Tse Sui Luen
Jewellery (International) Limited (stock code: 417) from November 2008 to
December 2015. Since June 2011, Mr. Heng has been the managing partner
and responsible officer of Springboard Capital Limited, an asset management
company licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
(“SFC”). Prior to that, Mr. Heng was the managing director of The Royal Bank
of Scotland Plc, Hong Kong from May 2006 to October 2008. He was a
director of HSBC Securities (Asia) Limited and held senior positions of other
HSBC group companies from June 1999 to April 2006. He has held senior
positions in several major private financial institutions in Hong Kong and
had been registered with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority as an executive
officer. He has been registered with the SFC as a responsible officer, carrying
out various regulated activities.

Mr. Heng obtained a bachelor of arts and subsequently a master of arts in June
1988 and March 1992 respectively from the University of Cambridge. He has
been a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales since December 2009 and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
since July 2009, and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT EREEE
The following table sets out certain information about the senior management ~ T&HIIRAFHEGAKERREREABZETE
personnel of the Group as at the date of this annual report: R

Name Age Position

e ik B

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie 50 Executive Assistant

REMLL 50 fTERBNE

Mr. Tsang Kam Hung 51 Project Director (Design)

BRBLE 51 RABE (R

Mr. Cheong Ka Wang 38 Project Director (Project Management)

REALE 38 HAARE(REER)

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (R5H), aged 50, has been an executive assistant
of the Group since January 2016, where she is responsible for the provision
of overall administrative support to the executive management team in
daily operations including arranging and coordinating meetings, facilitating
communications between executive team and all staff. Ms. Leung has over 25
years of experience in finance. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Leung served
as the director of finance of NW Project Management Limited from May 2010
to October 2015. From June 2006 to May 2010, Ms. Leung was employed by
New World Hotel Management Limited, where her last position was director
of finance. From August 1997 to May 2006, Ms. Leung was employed by
Renaissance Harbour View Hotel, where her last position was the director
of finance. From November 1990 to August 1997, Ms. Leung was employed
by New World Hotels International Limited, where her last position was
assistant financial controller. Ms. Leung obtained a post-experience certificate
in accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1994 through
part-time learning. She has been a member and a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and June 2003, respectively
and a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since July 1998.

Ms. Leung is the spouse of Mr. Lee and sister of Mr. Leung, an executive
Director.
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Mr. Tsang Kam Hung (Z#8%) (“Mr. Tsang”), aged 51, is a project director
(design) and has joined the Group since May 2011. Mr. Tsang is responsible
for the supervision of a design and creative team in Hong Kong and monitoring
the quality assurance of the products produced by factories in the PRC. He
also serves at the frontline to liaise with clients for identifying their needs
and giving immediate solutions, consultations and alternatives in order to
provide the right answers that meet the client expectations. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Tsang began his career as a designer at AJIM Design Group Ltd.
from April 1988 to January 1991. Mr. Tsang has over 25 years of experience
in the interior design industry, including serving in the in-house design team
of the corporate real estate department of Standard Chartered Bank (HK)
Limited from February 1998 to May 2008. From November 2009 to February
2011, Mr. Tsang was the contract staff in branch management of channel
management of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Tsang obtained a
bachelor’s degree of fine arts in interior design from the Pratt Institute in the
United States in February 1995.

Mr. Cheong Ka Wang ({8 &%) (“Mr. Cheong”), aged 38, is a project director
(project management) of the Group since January 2016 and served as a senior
project manager of the Group from July 2015 to January 2016. Mr. Cheong is
responsible to lead the project consultancy and construction team for overall
management in execution, control and completion of specific projects and
ensuring consistency with Company’s strategy, commitment and goals. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Cheong served as a director and project manager of
Paperspace Interiors Ltd. from 2011 to June 2015. From September 2006 to
September 2011, Mr. Cheong served as a project coordinator of CROSS MAX
Interiors Limited (now known as CROSSTEC Business Management Limited).
Before that, Mr. Cheong was a senior project coordinator and assistant
designer of Benson Construction & Engineering Co. Ltd. from October 2005
to September 2006. From July 2004 to October 2005, he served as a site
foreman of Bo Wing Construction Engineering Co. Ltd. Mr. Cheong graduated
from British Columbia Institute of Technology in Canada with a management
certificate of interior design in June 2003.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of bespoke and total interior
design solutions to the retail stores of global luxury jewelry and fashion
brands, which covers a wide range of services including millwork and furniture
provision, facade development and fabrication, interior solutions and design
and project consultancy. The Group has been conducting its business since
1999 and has been expanding its business to China, U.S., Europe, Middle East
and other Asian countries.

During the Year, the Group recorded a consolidated net loss for the year
ended 30 June 2017 of approximately HK$20.7 million as compared to a
consolidated net profit of approximately HK$11.5 million for the year ended
30 June 2016. The decline in the financial performance of the Group was
primarily due to the decrease in the Group’s revenue (2017: approximately
HK$99.1 million; 2016: approximately HK$132.7 million) and gross profit
(2017: approximately HK$23.9 million; 2016: approximately HK$47.3 million)
because of the change of the Group’s revenue mix upon the slowdown in
implementing the business expansion strategies of certain major clients of the
Group. As such, the Group’s revenue mix was temporarily adjusted to a higher
proportion of interior solutions projects over the total revenue as compared
to the prior year (2017: approximately 52.5%; 2016: approximately 14.6%).
However, in the long run, the Group’s long-term strategy is still focusing on
increasing our market share in millwork and furniture provision business.

The decline of the Group’s financial performance was also partially due to
(i) the incurrence of non-recurring expenses, which mainly comprised of
expenses related to the Listing; (i) the increase in employee benefits (2017:
approximately HK$21.4 million; 2016: approximately HK$13.5 million)
because of the increase in headcount and remuneration restructuring; and (i)
the increase in legal and consultancy fees and sales and marketing expenses
(2017: approximately HK$10.2 million; 2016: approximately HK$1.4 million)
mainly due to the formation of overseas subsidiaries.

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group’s revenue, gross profit and
loss for the year were approximately HK$99.1 million (2016: approximately
HK$132.7 million), approximately HK$23.9 million (2016: approximately
HK$47.3 million) and approximately HK$20.7 million (2016: profit for the
year of approximately HK$11.5 million) respectively, representing a decrease
of approximately 25.3%, 49.5% and 280.0% over the year ended 30 June
2016. The gross profit margin decreased from approximately 35.6% in 2016
to approximately 24.1% in 2017 due to the change in the revenue mix as
explained above.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

The listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12
September 2016 enabled us to step into the international platform which
enhanced the Group’s profile and image and strengthen our financial position.
Leveraging the years of experience in the high-end markets under the belt
of our management team and our long-standing working relations with
international brands, the Group is confident in the prospects.

Going forward, the Group will utilize the available resources continue to focus
on its core business and will also explore business opportunities which is
associated with its core business such as selective acquisition and partnership
to strengthen its revenue base and maximize the returns to the Shareholders as
well as the value of the Group.

For sales of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication (2017: approximately
HK$41.2 million; 2016: approximately HK$111.5 million), the Group
has been committing to enhance its innovation as well as research and
development capabilities. During the Year, the Group’s research and
development center (“R&D center”) has come into operation in Hong Kong
for product and material application testing, developing new technologies and
design prototypes, as well as building special lighting and security systems.
The management believes that the operation of the R&D center will enhance
the Group’s competitive edges in the industry and compliment the Group’s
future development. It is expected that the demand of the Group’s millwork
and furniture will increase in the coming year due to the resume of business
expansion strategies or new expansion plan of certain major clients to open
new stores in China, U.S. and other Asian countries.

For the interior solutions services (2017: approximately HK$52.0 million;
2016: approximately HK$19.4 million), the Group has dedicated to develop
the market in Hong Kong and other Asian countries. During the Year, the
Group has well established the fit-out business in the luxury housing market
and high-end restaurants in Hong Kong which was the milestone for the
Group’s development. The Group will develop its fit-out business in the luxury
housing market and high-end restaurants in markets not only in Hong Kong but
also in other regions such as China and other Asian countries.

For design and project consultancy services (2017: approximately HK$5.9
million; 2016: approximately HK$1.8 million), the Group has been continuing
to expand its design and creative team through recruiting elite and experienced
designers which enables the Group to take on projects with larger scale. The
award of the large-scale design project of the atrium dome of the Grand Lisboa
Palace in Macau by the Group during the Year served a good example for the
success of this move. In the coming year, the Group will continue to expand
the design and creative team and is going to set up a design office in Shenzhen
by the end of 2017. It is believed that such expansion will further strengthen
the Group’s competitive edge for pursuing other large-scale design projects in
the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

To search for additional business opportunities, overseas offices have been set
up in the U.S., Germany, Italy and Netherland and the Group is planning to
establish more overseas offices so as to explore business opportunities in the
international markets. Over the years, the Group has been actively diversifying
and expanding its client base, while it is expected that the current key clients
of the Group will continue contributing to large percentage of the Group's
revenue.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generated revenue principally from providing three major
categories of sales and services, including: (i) sales of millwork, furniture
and facade fabrication (2017: approximately HK$41.2 million; 2016:
approximately HK$111.5 million), (ii) interior solutions services (2017:
approximately HK$52.0 million; 2016: approximately HK$19.4 million), and
(i) design and project consultancy services (2017: approximately HK$5.9
million; 2016: approximately HK$1.8 million).

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 25.3% from approximately
HK$132.7 million in 2016 to approximately HK$99.1 million in 2017. The
decline in revenue was mainly due to the change of the Group’s revenue
mix as mentioned above upon the slowdown in implementing the business
expansion strategies of certain major clients of the Group.

During the Year, the aggregate revenue derived from the five largest brands
was approximately HK$56.1 million (representing approximately 56.6%
of total revenue) as compared to that of approximately HK$107.2 million
(representing approximately 80.8% of total revenue) in 2016.

Direct cost

Direct cost of the Group primarily consisted of costs of material and
subcontracting charges. Direct cost decreased by approximately 11.9% from
approximately HK$85.4 million in 2016 to approximately HK$75.2 million
in 2017, representing approximately 64.4% and 75.9% to the revenue of the
Group in 2016 and 2017 respectively. The decrease in direct cost was in line
with the decrease in revenue during the Year. The increase in percentage of
direct cost to revenue was mainly due to the change of the Group’s revenue
mix as mentioned above upon the slowdown in implementing the business
expansion strategies of certain major clients of the Group. As such, the
Group’s revenue mix was temporarily adjusted to a higher proportion of
interior solutions projects over total revenue (2017: approximately 52.5%;
2016: approximately 14.6%) as compared to the prior year by which the gross
profit margin for interior solutions projects are relatively lower as compare to
other business of the Group such as sale of millwork and furniture business.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately 49.5% from
approximately HK$47.3 million in 2016 to approximately HK$23.9 million
in 2017. The gross profit margin decreased to approximately 24.1% in 2017
(2016: approximately 35.6%) as a result of the change in the Group’s revenue
mix during the Year which has been mentioned above.
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(Loss)/profit for the year

For the financial year ended 30 June 2017, loss for the year of approximately
HK$20.7 million (2016: profit for the year of approximately HK$11.5 million)
was recorded. The decline in the financial perfomance was mainly due to (i)
the decrease in the Group’s revenue and gross profit as mentioned above;
(i) the incurrence of non-recurring expenses, which mainly comprised of
expenses related to the Listing; (iii) the increase in employee benefits (2017:
approximately HK$21.4 million; 2016: approximately HK$13.5 million)
because of the increase in headcount and remuneration restructuring; and (iv)
the increase in legal and consultancy fees and sales and marketing expenses
(2017: approximately HK$10.2 million; 2016: approximately HK$1.4 million)
due to the formation of overseas subsidiaries.

Other Income

The Group recorded other income of approximately HK$152,000 for the
financial year ended 30 June 2017 (2016: approximately HK$6,000) which
mainly consisted of bank interest income. The increase in bank interest
income was due to the increase in average cash balance during the Year upon
the receipt of the net proceeds from the share offer which was amounted to
approximately HK$64.6 million, which unutilized portion have been placed as
interest deposits with licensed bank in Hong Kong.

Other (loss)/gain

During the Year, balance represented a loss on disposals of property, plant and
equipment mainly due to the re-location of Hong Kong office. In the prior year,
balance represented a gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly consisted of employee benefits, rental and
utilities, marketing and advertisement, entertainment, legal and professional
fees, depreciation, transportation and travelling expenses. The increase
in administrative expenses by approximately HK$19.6 million from
approximately HK$19.9 million in 2016 to approximately HK$39.5 million in
2017 mainly due to the (i) increase in employee benefits (including Directors’
and chief executive’s remuneration) by approximately HK$7.9 million (2017:
approximately HK$21.4 million; 2016: approximately HK$13.5 million); (ii)
increase in legal and consultancy fees by approximately HK$5.5 million (2017:
approximately HK$5.9 million; 2016: approximately HK$0.4 million); (iii)
increase in sales and marketing expenses by approximately HK$3.3 million
(2017: approximately HK$4.3 million; 2016: approximately HK$1.0 million);
and (iv) increase in rental and utilities by approximately HK$1.6 million (2017:
approximately HK$3.1 million; 2016: approximately HK$1.5 million).

Listing expenses

For the financial year ended 30 June 2017, the Group recorded listing
expenses of approximately HK$4.9 million (2016: approximately HK$11.2
million) in connection with the preparation for the Listing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Income tax credit/(expense)

Income tax credit/(expense) mainly represented current tax refund/(paid) and/
or recoverable/(payable) for Hong Kong profits tax, overseas profits tax and
deferred tax credit/(expenses), if any. Income tax credit of approximately
HK$141,000 (2016: income tax expenses of approximately HK$4,785,000)
was recorded during the Year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Company did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the Year. In the
prior year, Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated at the rates
applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group derived cash inflow from operating activities primarily through
provision of services including millwork and furniture provision, facade
development and fabrication, interior solutions services and design and
project consultancy services. Cash outflow from operating activities primarily
comprises direct cost, administrative expenses, employee benefit expenses and
other operating expenses. Our net cash used in operating activities reflects
our profit or loss before income tax, as adjusted for non-cash items, such as
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and the effects of changes in
working capital items.

As at 30 June 2017, the cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
HK$68.8 million (2016: approximately HK$11.2 million) which were mainly
denominated in HK$, USD and RMB. The Group did not have any bank
borrowings in 2017 and 2016.

There was no change to the Group’s capital structure since the Listing and up
to 30 June 2017. Considering the current financial position of the Group and
provided there is no unforeseeable circumstance, the management does not
anticipate the need to change the capital structure. As at 30 June 2017, the
Group has a bank facility of HK$20.0 million (2016: HK$20.0 million) with
Hang Seng Bank that has not been utilized and is available for drawdown. The
Board believes the Group is in a strong and healthy financial position and has
sufficient resources to support its operations and meet its foreseeable capital
expenditures.

Borrowings and gearing ratio

No bank borrowing was recorded as of 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016. As at
30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, the gearing ratio of the Group as determined
by interest-bearing borrowings divided by total capital was nil.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Charge on assets
As at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, no assets of the Group were pledged to
secure its loans and banking facility.

Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investment held as at 30 June 2017.
Save as disclosed above and disclosed in the interim report of the Company for
the six months ended 31 December 2016 and the Prospectus, the Group did
not have any plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year ended 30 June 2017, there was no material acquisition or
disposal transactions conducted by the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 22 August 2016. The
Company has not granted any share options up to 30 June 2017. The Company
does not have any present intention to issue any of the authorized but unissued
share capital of the Company and, without prior approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting, no issue of Shares will be made which would effectively
alter the control of the Company.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

As at 30 June 2017, the Group had 39 employees (2016: 28 employees). Total
employee benefits (including Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration)
were approximately HK$21.4 million (2016: approximately HK$13.5
million). The Group remunerates its employees based on their qualifications,
performance, experience and prevailing industry practice. Competitive
remuneration package is offered to retain elite employees, including salaries,
medical insurance, discretionary bonuses as well as mandatory provident fund
schemes for employees in Hong Kong. Apart from basic remuneration, share
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible employees
on the basis of their individual performance to attract and retain talents to
contribute the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Other than operating lease commitments, the Group has no capital commitment as at
30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 11 August 2017, CROSSTEC International (contracting for itself and all
other members of the Group) as service provider and Mr. Lee (contracting for
Lee Group) as service recipient entered into the Master Services Agreement
in respect of the provision of interior design proposal and interior design
solutions by the Group for the restaurants of Lee Group in Hong Kong,
which shall be for a term commencing from the date of the Company’s
obtaining the independent shareholders’ approval on the aforesaid Master
Services Agreement and the continuing connected transactions contemplated
thereunder (including proposed annual caps) and ending on 30 June 2020.

Given that Mr. Lee is an executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Lee and his associates are connected persons of the Company under Rules
14A.07(1) and (4) of the Listing Rules. The transactions between the members
of the Group and members of Lee Group under the Master Services Agreement
will therefore constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11 August
2017 and the circular of the Company dated 29 September 2017.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adheres to prudent financial management principle to control and
minimise financial and operational risks. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated
in USD, RMB and Euros (“EUR”). The management is aware of the possible
exchange rate exposure due to the continuing fluctuation of RMB and EUR and
will closely monitor its impact on the performance of the Group to see if any
hedging policy is necessary.

Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign exchange
exposure.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING ITHERERERER

The net proceeds from the share offer amounted to approximately HK$64.6 {3 & EMBHIEFENAo46EESTL - HE-T—+
million. As of 30 June 2017, the net proceeds received were utilised as F/XA=1H BREIFEFEFEZHABRMOT :

follows:
Amount utilised Unutilised
Amount as at 30 June as at 30 June
to be utilised 2017 2017
HEZZ—+F HEZT—tF
ANA=1H NA=TH
e ERfzeE HABACEE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
Intended application of the net proceeds FERRFEZ B AR BEET AEAT BEAT

The unutilised net proceeds have been placed as interest deposits with — KEIBMEHEFECFARBHRRTESEGTN -
licensed banks in Hong Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code as its own code of corporate governance
and has been in compliance with the CG Code since the Listing Date. Key
corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are outlined
later in this annual report.

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange with effect from the Listing Date
and the CG Code has been applicable to the Company with effect from the
Listing Date. Save as the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
in relation to the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer being the same
individual as described below, the Board considers that the Company has fully
complied with the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during
the period from the Listing Date to 30 June 2017 (the “Period Under Review”).

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the
Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established
four Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee,
(together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the Period Under Review and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board comprises seven members, consisting of four executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau King Lok

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

The profile of the Directors are set out on pages 8 to 12 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in the profile of the Directors that Mr. Lee is a brother-in-law
of Mr. Leung Pak Yin, the Board members do not have any family, financial,
business or other material / relevant relationship among themselves.
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During the Period under Review, the Company has been in compliance with
the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

During the Period under Review, the Company has also complied with the
requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the
board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The chairman is responsible for the overall leadership
and strategic planning of the Group. The chief executive officer is responsible
for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and operations.

Mr. Lee assumes the roles of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer. In view of Mr. Lee’s extensive experience in the industry, personal
profile and critical role in the Group and its historical development, the
Board considers that it is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group
that Mr. Lee continues to act as both the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer. The Board believes that vesting both the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person has the benefit of providing a strong and
consistent leadership to the Group and allows for more effective planning
and management of the Group. In addition, the Board is of the view that the
balanced composition of executive and independent non-executive Directors
on the Board and the Board Committees (primarily comprising independent
non-executive Directors) in overseeing different aspects of the Company’s
affairs would provide adequate safeguards to ensure a balance of power and
authority. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a
whole.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold board meetings regularly at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days
will be given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and propose matters to be discussed in the meeting
agenda.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying documents are dispatched
to the Directors or Board Committee members at least five days before the
meetings, the agreed period determined by the Board, to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings.
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When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of
the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are/will be recorded in
sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board and the Board
Committee and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting
are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held.

During the Period Under Review, the Board held five meetings and passed
resolutions by way of written resolutions. The attendance of the Board
members at the above meetings is set out in the below section headed
“Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

GENERAL MEETING

During the Period Under Review, a general meeting, being the 2016 annual
general meeting held on 29 November 2016 (the “2016 AGM”), were held.
The attendance of the Board members at the 2016 AGM is set out in the below
section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings and
General Meeting”.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND BOARD

ERERRSE

WEEREZSREGNBARLREE ARSRT
BTamNEERN e ERAARENETRERENE
R-EZgeiRESERE QRN RIHE KE
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FEBMRE BREFROINEMHE - SES2E3
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ESENESERREEHURRRAEN

COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL

MEETING
Attendance of each Director at all the Board meetings, Board Committee ~SEFREEHBAMETNEHEZE S EF2Z
meetings and general meeting held during the Period Under Review is set out ~ B E@EHEARERAGHHEFERHIIMT :

as follows:

HERR

Risk
Audit  Remuneration ~ Nomination ~ Management
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting Meeting
B 37 #H 74 BlRER
Name of Director ESfif g2 ZBeei ZB88F 23882  ZB&cd RRAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lee Wai Sang FRERE 55 NARER 0 N NATER 11
Mr. Lau King Lok e 55 NATER O NANER  NATER 0 n
Mr. Leung Pak Yin RAREE 55 NANER  NARMER NATER  NATER 11
Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman B 55 NANER O NAMRER  NATER NARER "
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BYFH{TES
Mr. So Chi Hang HEELE 55 33 0 1l 0 1l
Mr. Lau Lap Yan John BUARE 5/5 33 NATER  NATER  NATER 1L
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin FHERE 5/5 3 Wi 1L i 1L
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee has three members, all are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. So Chi Hang, Mr. Lau Lap Yan John and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen
Franklin. Mr. So Chi Hang has been appointed as the chairman of the
Audit Committee. Mr. So Chi Hang possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications required under the Listing Rules.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review the interim
and annual results of the Company and to supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control systems of the Group and make recommendations
to the Board of the appointment and removal of the external auditors as well
as corporate governance related matters. The Audit Committee has access to
independent professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Period Under Review,
with all members present in person or through telephone communication,
during which the following works were performed:

. Assess the independence of the Company’s auditor.

. Discussion with external auditor about the scope of work and fee in
respect of their audit work for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2017,
and the preliminary planning of audit of the Group for the year ended
30 June 2017.

. Reviewed the Group’s annual financial results for the year ended
30 June 2016 and interim financial results for the six months ended
31 December 2016.

. Reviewed the documents and other matters or issues raised by the
Company’s auditor, the significant issues on financial reporting
and internal control, the continuing connected transactions carried
out during the year ended 30 June 2016 and re-appointment of the
Company’s auditor.

. Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the
period from the Listing Date to 28 September 2016, being the date of
2016 annual report of the Company.

The attendance of the Audit Committee members at the above meetings is set
out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee
Meetings and General Meeting”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee has three members, two of them are independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen
Franklin, and one of them is an executive Director, namely, Mr. Lee Wai Sang.
Mr. So Chi Hang has been appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee has access to independent
professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to determine the
policies in relation to human resources management, to review the Company’s
remuneration policies and to determine remuneration packages for Directors
and senior management members of the Company.

The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their
respective experience and responsibilities with the Group and the general
market conditions. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach
under code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make recommendations
to the Board on remuneration packages of the Directors and the members of
senior management.

Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the Period Under Review,
with all members present in person or through telephone communication. The
meetings were held to discuss and review of the existing policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management of the Company.
Apart from attending the above meetings, the members of the Remuneration
Committee by passing of written resolution made recommendation to the
Board on granting of discretionary bonus to executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The attendance of the Remuneration Committee members at the above
meetings is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of three members, one of them is an executive Director,
namely Mr. Lee Wai Sang, and two of them are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin.
Mr. Lee Wai Sang has been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee has access to independent
professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and diversity (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board. In assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Period Under
Review, with all members present in person or through telephone
communication. The meeting was held to discuss and review the composition
and structure of the Board, the independence of each independent
non-executive Director and the re-election of the retiring Directors. The
executive Directors were appointed based on their qualification and
experience in relation to the Group’s business. The independent non-executive
Directors were appointed based on their professional qualifications and
experience in their respective areas.

The attendance of the Nomination Committee members at the above meeting
is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board
Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Risk Management Committee consists of three members, one of them
is an executive Director, namely Mr. Lau King Lok, and two of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin
and Mr. So Chi Hang. Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin has been appointed
as the chairman of the Risk Management Committee. The Risk Management
Committee has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are to review the
Company’s risk management policies and standards and to monitor the
Company’s exposure to sanctions law risks.

The Risk Management Committee held two meetings during the Period
Under Review, with all members present in person or through telephone
communication. The meetings were held to review the compliance by the
Group with its undertaking to the Stock Exchange, further details of which
are set out below, to review, evaluate and confirm the effectiveness of the
internal control policies and procedures with respect to sanctions law matters,
to review and identify the Company’s risk exposure, and to review draft of
internal control reports for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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The Company has undertaken to the Stock Exchange that it will comply with
certain undertakings (the “Undertaking”) that it will not use the proceeds from
the share offer as well as any other funds raised through the Stock Exchange,
to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly, activities or business with, or for
the benefit of, any countries (“Sanctioned Countries”) which are the targets
of economic sanctions as administered by the U.S., the European Union
(“EU”), the United Nations and Australia or certain persons and entities listed
on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List of the United
States Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”)
or other restricted parties lists maintained by the EU, the United Nations or
Australia, including, without limitation, any government, individual or entity
that is the subject of any OFAC-administered sanctions (“Sanctioned Persons”)
(collectively, “International Sanctions”).

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Board had developed its system on
evaluating the sanctions risks prior to determining whether the Company
should embark on any business opportunities in the Sanctioned Countries and
with Sanctioned Persons. Under the system, advices from reputable external
international legal counsels with necessary expertise and experience in matters
relating to sanction-related laws and regulations issued by the U.S., the EU,
Australia or the United Nations would be seek if the Company encounter any
possible sanctions risk. During the Period Under Review, the Risk Management
Committee had conducted a review of the system'’s effectiveness in preventing
any prohibited or otherwise restricted sales to Sanctioned Countries and
Sanctioned Persons.

The attendance of the Risk Management Committee members at the above
meetings are set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 22 August 2016. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. A truly diverse Board will include and
make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences
will be taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into
account diversity (including but not limited to skills, professional experience,
educational background, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age
and gender).

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang, Mr. Lau
Lap Yan John and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, have been appointed for a
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.
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DIRECTORS’” SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either party
on the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles of Association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination provisions
therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Atticles of Association.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service agreement which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

The rules and procedures governing the appointment, retirement, re-election
and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board structure,
size and composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RETIREMENT
AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election and re-appointment at each annual
general meeting provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Any new Director so appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.
Any new Director so appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s
senior management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely
to possess inside information in relation to the Group or the Company’s
securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Period Under Review. In addition, the
Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the
senior management of the Group during the Period Under Review.

DIRECTORS” CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. All Directors
are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties with care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of
the Group. The Company continuously updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory and
statutory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 30 June 2017 to
the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 30
June 2017 is set out below:

ERERRSE

EEREAREEEBETESRS

ARRERAEEF AL EERALEBAERE
(BREMHBLSERREE  DETLFALHAEES,
AAFREONENS) ABERARTRANTATH -

CBARAME 2REFRABRINDEIHEE TR
B8 e ftoh ARATEERREBERBALEESR
EEERIMNEREETANTR -

EENHESRER

EERATHRRSNERRE 2RESUAERTHR
ROEM YOFE ARORDPERHETRENE
B HORAKENERRE - ARR-ETKAESRME
BALMmRAREMEREE ERRTE S ER - U
RESETRZERILREREHURHFEXERRANA
AE -

PREFC2ARETHNILC AR A RERENE
EZREFRAZTREFRARRREIZ L8 -

EEERBE-T—LFAASTALFEREEESRY
ZEAREBAMT -

Type of Training
(Notes)

Name of Directors EEMT 55| AR (i 51)
Mr. Lee Wai Sang FRERE A, B
Mr. Lau King Lok Elle S A B
Mr. Leung Pak Yin REATE B
Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman BEMLE B
Mr. So Chi Hang (Appointed on 22 August 2016) HEELRE(RZE-—"EN\A-T-REZH) B
Mr. Lau Lap Yan John (Appointed on 22 August 2016) AUAKE(RZB—A"ENAZTZREZH) B
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (Appointed on 22 August 2016)  ZF#EEE(RZT— S FENAZ+ZBEZ) A B

Notes: Mzt

A. attending or participating in seminars/workshops A. HE2amae, /Iy

B. reading materials to regulatory update B. HERHEEEN

SEEMEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EEREAREEEMS
EMOLUMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the emoluments of the Directors and ~EEZF—LHFANA=THLEFE KA THELEA
members of the senior management within the following bands were as EZREREZEREMEWT :

follows:

For the year ended

30 June 2017

HE-Z—tF

Emoluments Band B <5 20 [E] NAZTHIEEE
|

HK$1,000,000 and below 1,000,000/ 7T & A T 7

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T - 1,500,000/% 7T 1

HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T 1

HK$2,000,001 and above 2,000,001 7T & BA £ 1

Further details of the remuneration of Directors and five highest paid BHEZNAMUSEEHALHE 2 & —FFEARTBR
individuals have been set out in notes 7 and 8 to the audited consolidated — &HIFE7%8 o
financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION -Gl A
An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to BDO Limited is set out HHENHENIEEZSHMBELMERAROMHEH
below: &M -
Fee paid/payable
for the year ended
30 June 2017
BE_ZT—+%
NA=Z+BLEEE
B/ ENER
(HK$’000)
Services Rendered 1R i IR 75 (FAT)
|
Annual audit service for the year ended HEZZ—+tF A=ZTHLFEZFE
30 June 2017 B RT 650
Audit and reporting accountant services relating to the ARNF EHABREER R B R A0 R
Listing of the Company 615
Other non-audit services* H A FER RIS 130
Total 85t 1,395

* Other non-audit services primarily relate to advisory on tax payable to BDO Tax  * Hin Rt BT ERER TERNBERERATNEH
Limited. T~ AR -
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DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare accounts
of the Group and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and the Company’s management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make informed assessments of the financial and other
decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company in respect of its reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2017 is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
contained in this annual report.

INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS” AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITIES

The Company has arranged for liability insurance cover to indemnify the
Directors and the senior management of the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board’s Responsibilities for the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and oversees such systems on an ongoing basis,
while ensuring a review of the effectiveness of these systems of the Group
is conducted at least annually through the Audit Committee. The scope of
such review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions are adequate. However, the Board recognizes that
no cost effective internal control and risk management systems will preclude
all errors and irregularities as such systems are designed to managing risks
rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal

Control Systems

The internal control system and procedures of the Company are designed to
meet specific business needs and to minimize risk exposure. The Company
adopted different internal guidelines, along with written policies and
procedures to monitor and reduce the impact of risks which are relevant to the
Group’s business and control daily business operations.

During the Year, Richard Poon & Partners Risk Management Limited, an
independent consultant, had been engaged for an enterprise risk assessment,
which was conducted under the approach adopted in the “COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework”. According to the assessment
result, management has established an enterprise risk register, submitted an
assessment report containing recommendations to the Board and an internal
control review plan for the next three years to enable the Board to effectively
monitor the business risks and understand how management responds and
mitigates the risks.

Process used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

The Management is the ultimate risk management decision-making body.
The Risk Management Committee is responsible for deciding the risk level
and risk appetite of the Group and considering the Group’s risk management
strategies and giving guidelines where appropriate. It also has the responsibility
of overseeing the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
on an outgoing basis and ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group has been conducted at
least annually.

The Company has formulated an enterprise risk management process to
effectively manage the risks faced by the Company. The process clearly
defines four procedures for the Company’s management of risks, including
identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting.

In the event of risk identification, management communicates with the
operational functions and collects significant risk factors affecting the
Company from bottom to top. These risk factors are included in enterprise risk
register.

Management evaluates the risks in the register and prioritizes them for
follow-up actions according to their potential impact, occurrence opportunity
and sufficiency of current measures tackling the risks. The risk register is
reviewed at least once a year, new risks are added while existing risks are
removed, if necessary, after the assessment.

The changes are reported to the Board at a timely manner. This process can
effectively ensure that the Company takes the initiative to manage the risks
it faces and that all risk holders are aware of their liability so that they can
develop appropriate and effective measures in time to control the risks.
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Process used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to

Resolve Material Internal Control Defects

The Company has implemented an internal control system to minimize the
risks to which the Company is exposed to and used as a management tool for
day-to-day business operation. Review is conducted once a year.

The Company engaged an independent consultant, Richard Poon & Partners
Risk Management Limited, to carry out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2017. The results of the
independent review and assessment were reported to the Board and Board
Committees.

Based on the review results for the Year, the management has made a
confirmation to the Board that the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and sufficient. The Board, through the Risk
Management Committee and the Audit Committee, had conducted review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2017. The Board was satisfied with
the review results and considered the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate, in particular, for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance. No significant areas of concern that might affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management functions of
the Group were identified.

The Board will continue to review and improve the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems in accordance with the existing
regulatory requirements, the interests of Shareholders and the growth and
development of the Company’s business.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling

and Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group (i) carries out its daily operation
with regards to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by
the SFC; and (ii) closely communicate with its legal advisor regarding whether
the relevant information is likely to have impact on the price of the Shares or
their trading volume and thus is considered as inside information that needs to
be disclosed pursuant to the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of
the SFO and the Listing Rules.

To comply with the SFO, the Company has also developed internal control
mechanisms for handling and disseminating inside information, including
information flow and reporting processes, confidentiality arrangement,
disclosure procedures and staff trainings. In addition, whistleblowing policy
has been adopted. Accordingly, effective channels will be set up to encourage
employees to report incidents of alleged misconduct or fraud.

S@EMERAMRDLT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® e o o 035

ERERRSE

RAREGERREERABEZME 2 KBAR
BREAABEERE ZEF

AATREANAEENE - WEBREALTELHA
B LA IEARREBERNERTE  RADEFH
ke

ARAEZEBVBMERERAREEARAR  HAR
ARBREERABERHERBE_F—LFXA=1H
IHFERERARKBIMAETAN B - BEE
Us R ERENEZGRESGREQER -

REFFEZRTER EEECRESFEGHR  ALF
ZEREERAREENEREMN TN EFLEBA
REEZEGRERZEGUNAEERAREE RAME
BEHERBE T tF R NA=ZTHIEFE ZHAET
Ra c BEEREMRIER  YRARREERARER
HERBUMNRH HHIRHMBREN LHRASRM
FoUEBEEARYEARENMSE  2E  QREHIA
EREEBENEARMIEL

EZORBERRANTEERT FERRFEAHEDA
RAEBZERRER  HARFAZARERERABEE
FRETRA LA THTE

EERBHARHEECEFRAMER

REERBEHRAREECEFRAEEME - ARE)
ERESEERNIAREERERS I METRREER:
RiVEEZRERENER U EHERRERE T
HEHERIBNRFEELTE  RUKEAARRS
mAREE SR RAE GO ZEXIVAR 2 NEH 8 B R &
i 5 Bl F A B o

RETESR KBGO ARAE RS BT REBE RS -
ARBERERARES  BRBEERENRERE &
B BERFME TSI - 5 ARAERAER
HE - Bt REUBHWRE SBEERRSHIE
TRIBMIENFH -



Corporate Governance Report

ERERRSE

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board has
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, as opposed
to diverting resources to establish a separate internal audit department, it
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
department.

TRAINING FOR COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board is of the view that Mr. Lau King Lok, the Company Secretary and
also an executive Director, is qualified and has appropriate experience to
discharge his duties. Mr. Lau had received not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 30 June 2017. The Company will
provide Mr. Lau with sufficient resources to receive not less than 15 hours of
professional training for every financial year as required by the Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS” RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on

requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)
to be called by the Board. The written requisition must specify the business to
be transacted on the meeting, which shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene an EGM, the Shareholder(s) concerned may
themselves convene an EGM, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
Shareholder(s) making the requisition as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to such Shareholder(s) by the Company.

Save for the procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM as set out above,
there are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals at the
general meeting under the Articles of Association. Shareholders may follow
the procedures set out above to convene an EGM for any business specified in
such written requisition. The written requisition must state the objects of the
meeting, and must be signed by the relevant Shareholder(s) and deposited to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong, 20th Floor, 625 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholder(s) may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary by post at 20th Floor, 625 King's
Road, North Point, Hong Kong, or via email at the contact information as
provided on the website of the Company.

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholder(s)’ enquiries and
concerns to the Board and/or relevant Board Committees, where appropriate,
to respond to the Shareholder(s)’ questions.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective and proper investor relations play
a vital role in creating Shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. The Company
discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions. Updated key information and business development of the Group
are also available on the Company’s website to enable Shareholders and
investors to have timely access to information about the Group.

The Company also endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through general meetings which provides a
forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the Board.
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available at the general
meetings of the Company to address Shareholders” queries.

The Company will continue to take measures to ensure effective Shareholders’
communication and transparency.

There has been no change in the Articles of Association since the Listing
Date and up to date version of the Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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This is the first ESG report of the Group. The ESG report elaborates on the
various work of the Group in fully implementing the principle of sustainable
development and its environmental and social performance from 1 July 2016
to 30 June 2017. For information on our corporate governance, please refer to
the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 23 to 37.

SCOPE OF ESG REPORT

The ESG report presents the Group's sustainability approach and performance
in the environmental and social aspects of its business in Hong Kong during
the Year. The Group will continue to strengthen its efforts in information
collection in order to enhance its performance in the environmental and social
areas and disclosure of related information in sustainable development.

REPORTING GUIDELINES

The ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide”, as set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Our employees of the Group were involved in helping us better understand
our sustainability performance. The data collected not only highlights the
Group's sustainable initiatives during the Year, but also forms the basis for the
Group to map out long-term strategies for sustainable development. The Group
will increase the stakeholder engagement via constructive dialogue, with a
view to driving long-term prosperity.

INFORMATION AND FEEDBACKS

For detailed information about environmental and corporate governance,
please refer to the official website (http://www.crosstec.com.hk) and the
Annual Report of the Group. Your opinions will be highly valued by the
Group. If you have any advice or suggestions, please feel free to contact us by:

Tel: (852) 2690-1223

Email: info@crosstec.com.hk
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PROTECT OUR ENVIRONMENT

In face of climate change, resource shortage and other global environmental
issues, the Group shoulders the responsibility to protect the nature. While
complying with laws and regulations related to environmental protection,
our commitment to emission reduction, energy and resources conservation
encompasses every aspects of our operation. We have been certified to be
in compliance with the standard of 1SO 14001 Environmental Management
System.

Green Operation

In light of our business nature, the operation of the Group does not generate
air, water or land pollutions or raise any significant environmental issues.
In line with its endeavour to reducing carbon emission directly caused by
our business operation and employees’ activities, the Group encourages its
clients to follow the international standards of practice such as “Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design” (“LEED”) and recommends them to
use environmentally friendly material, such as Light-emitting Diode (“LED”)
light bulbs and low Volatile Organic Compounds (“VOCs") paint, if there
is no special request on the use of material in the project. Consistent with
the principle of “Green Operation”, a number of environmental protection
elements are adopted in our new office design. A prime example is the use
of energy efficient appliances in our new office for energy conservation. To
further advance sustainability in our operation, most of the materials in the old
office are reused while some locally made furniture is procured to reduce the
carbon emission incurred during transportation.

Much effort has also been made to encourage the use of public transport
and optimize route planning for transportation and goods delivery. Video
conference is held where possible to avoid any unnecessary overseas business
travel while direct flights are chosen for inevitable business travel for lower
carbon emission. To live up to our carbon reduction commitment, we exercise
an effective fleet management, under which our drivers are required to switch
off idling engine. We believe that employees’ participation is indispensible
for the success of sustainability development. Therefore, much emphasis is
placed on employee engagement in environmental activities organized by
green group to enhance their environmental awareness. Located in leased
office premises, both water supply and discharge of our office are under sole
control of the property management office, and consequently, no data of
water consumption can be obtained. Consistent with our commitment to water
saving, we encourage effective use of water within the Group through email.
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Waste Management

In the absence of manufacturing activities, the solid waste of the Group is
mainly generated by daily office operations. As an interior design services
provider, paper is a major component of the Group’s production work.
Underpinned by the 3R principle (Reduce, Reuse and Recycle), multiple ways
have been undertaken to reduce paper consumption in the office.

Reduce

o Use electronic means
for information
dissemination

o Use e-fax

o Adopt Office
Automation (OA)

system

Apart from non-hazardous waste, our major hazardous waste such as used
toner cartridges and battery, are also collected for recycling.
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Energy Conservation BB

The Group recognizes the importance of maintaining environmental ~A&ERRERREERELREIHELRNES Y -
sustainability in our daily operation. Our energy saving initiatives includes — RFIFEIGEHEEREERBSRIGRRIET  ZBHBLE
displaying of the green label next to the switches to encourage employees to BTN ERRARE T - BT LHEHE BAM -
switch off unnecessary lights and electronic equipment. In order to facilitate ~ HFIEHAMEEREE - NEEFBAAFTL  LEKHA
the effectiveness of our energy-saving initiatives, complementary measures [EE5AEEBURBRBNTRREER - AEENRA
are taken, such as maximising the use of natural lighting and dividing the — EFgERRER - WEHEZBAREHRGHNBES - LR
office area into different light zones with independent lighting switches. 8RN - ETHERATAIUFEREMR - A =58
The energy efficient lighting is also adopted. The light fixtures and filters  8¢JRIERE ©

in air-conditioning system are cleaned regularly to enhance their energy

efficiency. Employees are allowed to dress in casual attire in office to lessen

the energy consumption of air conditioning.
‘
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CARE OUR EMPLOYEE

As a leading provider of high-end interior design solutions, the Group believes
that employees are our valuable asset. The Group firmly upholds the principle
of treating each employee fairly and consistently in all matters and enforces its
employment policies in accordance with the regulations of the Employment
Ordinance. To attract and retain the best talent, we offer comprehensive range
of benefits, training and development opportunity, as well as conducive and
engaging working environment free of safety and health hazards.

Recruitment

Effective recruitment process is one of the critical factors of successful
talent management. As an equal opportunity employer, we are committed
to eliminating discrimination in employment. The vacancy is open to all
applicants irrespective of their disability, sex, family status and race. To ensure
the interview process is accessible to applicants with disability, assistance is
available for special arrangement requests that do not violate the assessment
objectives. Short listing and interviews are carried out by more than one
person whenever possible. To drive the Group’s sustainability, campus
recruitment is arranged every year to attract high caliber graduates from local
leading universities.

Our recruitment process consists of age verification and identification
examination to avoid child labor. Prior to commencement of employment,
employees are provided with key information, such as the job duties and
working hour of the position concerned, and the employment is in accordance
with labor contract to prevent any forced labor. For work-life balance of
employees, overtime working is not encouraged. Where an extension of
working hours is needed, overtime work is consensual and compensated by
overtime pay or time-off in lieu. We constantly review our recruitment policy
to ensure our compliance with statutory requirements in respect of equal
opportunities and data collection.
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Employees’ Benefit

Driven by the Group’s belief that employees are vital driving force of the
sustainability of the Group, we greatly value their rights and benefits. Our
merit-based remuneration package is subject to annual review with reference
to comparable market level to ensure retention and attraction of high caliber
employee. Apart from basic salary, non-commission-based employees are also
offered discretionary bonus based on their individual performance and our
financial performance. Our employees are eligible for different types of leave,
such as annual leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave and paternity
leave. Other entitlements include medical insurance and travel insurance.

The Group believes that two-way communication is a cornerstone for a close
rapport between employer and employees. There are monthly birthday party
and festival celebration to foster the team spirit and provide proper channel for
quality communication between employees and management. Upon receipt
of a letter of resignation, an exit interview would be arranged to understand
the reason of leaving and to improve the Group’s operation. The payment of
outstanding wages will be made on time.
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Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety has a key role to play in of the sustainable
development of the Group. It is our endeavour to create a pleasant and
comfortable workplace through the strict compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance. Various
measures to attain this goal are also implemented, including provision of
adjustable seat, sufficient storage space for a more spacious desk area and
regular maintenance or replacement of office equipment. We also provide
sufficient protective equipment to the employees. Safety trainings, such
as general safety orientation for new employees and the regular fire drills
organized by building management office, are provided to enhance the
environmental awareness and involvement in accident prevention of our
employees.

As a friendly employer, we aim to promote the concept of work-life balance to
our employees to create a harmonious working environment. With employees
spending an increasing amount of time at their working desks and in front
of the computers, we see the breakout area as a necessity in workplace.
Therefore, we provide breakout area and gymnastics facilities that offer
employees a relaxing place to avert from their working desks and recover from
fatigue.
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Development and Training

In order to establish an excellent team to accommodate the rapid development
of the Group, our employees are required to receive regular performance
evaluation which thoroughly assesses the employees’ attributes, personal
ability and performance at work. Our promotion is executed on a fair and
open basis and any form of discrimination is not tolerated. Competent
employees will be considered for internal promotion in recognition of their
efforts and contribution when there is a job vacancy. It is our belief that
comprehensive career planning and effective development of skills can bring
high productivity and low turnover, therefore our annual appraisal serves not
only as a process to document the performance of our employees, but also a
precious opportunity to identify their development needs for the refinement of
our training strategy.

The Group promotes lifelong learning culture that encourages the ongoing
pursuit of knowledge and the self-enrichment of its employees. During the
Year, we provide training of various topics to relevant employees across
different departments, such as green building, financial management and
human resources management. Monthly sharing sessions on a wide range
of popular topics, such as product design, regulation update and personal
interest, are organized to facilitate knowledge exchange among our
employees. These gatherings create a platform for knowledge enrichment and
development of personal interest. To encourage employees to further develop
their ability through independent learning, the management keeps employees
updated on details of external trainings. We also subsidize employees for
education expenses and professional membership fees which are relevant to
the employees’ job duties.

S@EMERAMRDLT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® e o o 045

R5 > A EREREE

BRRIE3

RTRUEFER  WEAASENAREE - RATH
HEETIRR  BUHBIMERE  EAENRIERR
ETE2EFME  BINEMRERAY AR EPAEE
B « B LRBAZRE - RIS ZBRAPRK
RBET USEBIMENREM - AARAE - 2EN
EERBRAMNRERREEIREENRERKE -
ARAMOFEERTERRCHEIRANBRE - TR
HHETINERFRATEEEBIIRBNETHS -

TEERERGBENN L 2BRIREHE S
NFES R - RAFE - RARTREPIORBET
RESEZEN NRERE MBEEERANERE
B e moh AEBREZOAMIEE  MERR R
EREBREARE BIEANFE  MEEEIRR
ME - AREREENALEREARSOTE - REE
BTRBRIEEME - SRAKGNES  EEERER
TEENFFIOFHER - BT HF B REBBHERER
HERXREXEREBNEY -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HEREARE

RESPECT OUR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group is committed to maintaining a mutually beneficial good
relationship with our clients and suppliers. To live up to this commitment,
we strive to improve every aspect of our operation to create greater values for
clients and the supply chain.

Supply Chain Management

The Group seeks to ensure that the value of sustainable development
permeates the entire supply chain. To gain the confidence of clients, suppliers
and the public, we are committed to a high standard of corporate ethics
in our supply chain management. A fair and unbiased procurement policy
is formulated to select reliable suppliers and contractors and develop our
long-term relationships with them. In addition to the quality of product or
service, the suppliers’ awareness of occupational health and safety are taken
into account in the supplier selection. Suppliers with certificate of 1ISO 14001,
ISO 9001 Quality Management System Certification, Occupational Health
and Safety Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001 or other accreditation will be
given preference. Besides taking environmental performance of suppliers into
consideration, we also constantly evaluate the usage of material to avoid
overstocking and squandering resources. When there are suppliers with similar
qualification, selection will be based on their geographical proximity to the
Group to reduce carbon footprint of delivery.

The Group continuously performs due diligence for supply chain management
to ensure the product health and safety. After supplier selection, the Group’s
suppliers and contractors are evaluated with respect to product or service
quality, reliability, timely delivery as well as occupational health and safety.
In addition to a comprehensive performance evaluation system, inspection
is conducted periodically in the production process to ensure the product or
service quality. As a result, stringent systematic controls are executed at every
production stages, from supplier selection, supplier management to supplier
quality reassurance.
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Respect Our Clients EEXF

The strong and loyal customer relationship of the Group stems from our ASEGREEAZF—ENRNSENZE 2BAKER
long-standing effort in the provision of high quality services and customer —~ AMARBAHFENHRRBREERE - BTEEPELM
services. To enhance clients satisfaction, we accord great importance to 2 ' HMEAEEREEH - MAEFIMISO 900125 k&
quality control which can be exemplified by our possession of 1SO 9001  FIUEF AANRBEHSHERE NOEE -
Certification and also our client-oriented service.

Site survey and preliminary design interview
e Understand clients’ need
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Our extensive service also encompasses onsite testing and commissioning
which are performed to ensure proper installation and fitting when we provide
the service of millwork and furniture provision and facade development and
fabrication. We make every effort to promptly investigate and resolve all
disputes with, and complaints lodged by clients.

The Group accords great importance to the protection of the confidential
data of our clients. We strictly comply with the laws and regulations relating
to privacy matter, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. In order to
protect clients’ personal information, data protection principles are adopted
when collecting, processing and using clients’ data. Access to confidential
information or document is restricted and granted on a need-to-know
basis. Besides security measures, employees are forbidden to browse any
unauthorized websites or store media and files from unknown sources and
disclose confidential or proprietary information outside the Group, either
during or after employment, without the Group’s authorization. The Group’s
products and service are advertised through various ways. We demands
absolute accuracy of all information of sales materials and forbid any false,
misleading or inaccurate statement in any form of our communications.

Anti-corruption

While complying with all the laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraudulent behavior and money-laundering, such as the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, we endeavor to maintain high standard of
corporate governance. With integrity being a core part of the Group’s business
ethics, it is the responsibility of each employee to observe the applicable laws
and regulations as well as the code of conduct of the Group. A mechanism
for declaration of interest and acceptance of gifts is in place to prohibit
employee engagement in any activities that collide with the interest of the
Group. Related procedures and guidelines are available in our employee
handbook. We also invited Hong Kong Independent Commission Against
Corruption (ICAC) to conduct seminars to enhance employees’ awareness
of anti-corruption. To maintain our corporate reputation, we consider the
reputation and financial strength of clients and suppliers to reduce the risk of
money laundering.

In order to maintain a high standard of corporate governance, there is
whistle-blowing policy to provide channels for employees to disclose any
suspected misconduct. Our project management also visits the project sites
regularly and reports any irregularities in connection with the operation
of the projects. Employee who breaches anti-corruption policy will face
disciplinary action, which could result in dismissal for gross misconduct. We
have designated personnel to investigate the misconduct reported and take
corresponding remedial measures against the irregularities. All report and
enquiries are handled with strict confidentiality under all circumstances to
preserve anonymity.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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CONTRIBUTE TO OUR COMMUNITY HEHE

Apart from our pursuit of the business development, the Group spared no B TEBREBEREIN  AEETAEETER N BAA
efforts in making charitable commitment which can be reflected by our active & A EH—5 N RAEE - HMLNTRE=Z
participation in various charitable activities to contribute to the community.  EZERIEE  HHEEEREEERLELE  BUA
During the Year, we have participated in “Tung Wah Group of Hospitals REALENEREE2ENEERS KBTI HLE
Charity Challenge Race” ("RZE=FTZEREHEE") to support the I BAMTBRERELFEMT - FRZE[EZXHE
redevelopment of the Kwong Wah Hospital which provides comprehensive ~ HEEZ— ZMBALEESEE  BHABEE I FRE
medical services to the residents of Mong Kok and Wong Tai Sin Districts.  EBAZLEZTEEBMES - B T2NSEEEEY
Apart from supporting the community, we also place great emphasis on the 5 ZFMAASZEREEEHELE 0K TIELSR -
needs of teenagers. We are one of the employers participating in “Truth,

Kindness and Beauty Program” (“E.#& 35t &”) to provide sharing and working

experience to youth at risk. Besides taking part in a variety of charitable

activities, we provide the internship program to the university students to

enrich their working experience.

LAl EETR

TWGHSs CHARITY CHALLENGE RACE
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and
provision of interior design, project consultancy and interior solutions services.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 1 to the audited consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
Year.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 12 September 2016, the Shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. A total of 600,000,000 ordinary shares with nominal value of
HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at HK$0.15 per Share in relation to
the IPO. The net proceeds from the IPO amounted to approximately HK$64.6
million. Details of the IPO were disclosed in the Prospectus.

The Company has, and will continue to utilise the net proceeds from the IPO
for the purposes consistent with the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
proceeds” as set out in the Prospectus. The below table sets out the planned
applications of the net proceeds and actual usage during the Period Under
Review:

EERENREAFELALNAESZERERLENFS
MBHE -

TEXRK

FATBRERRAT  ARETENTHELE WA
RAHS B8 RIEEREN RREENRE  HE B
REMEAH R - AL AWBAT2 T ELBHIER
REEREAHBRRNT - AEBTELBIENA
FEBEEAED -

THHREBRERR

RZE—RNENATZA BORBIMERLET - AR
B4 ££600,000,000/ B R EAE0.01A T EBRETLER
ARBERER0.ISBETET - EALHBENREHE
FREOAMEBEB T  BAARBEZFBERARE

RRREEY BB LR ER KRG8 R AR
R —BMERERAERARREMEHAFE -
TRESIAFFBFENRE R LR L ERE 2 B
i

Percentage Actual usage  Unutilised net

of total Planned upto  proceeds as at

net proceeds applications 30 June 2017 30 June 2017

RZE—t5

BEE-T—F NA=TH

{BFS5 R ~NA=TH I REA

Use of proceeds FREFIERE FEAOL WERSE WERRE  MEIERE
HK$ in million  HK$ in million ~ HK$ in million

BEET BEET BEETL

Pursuing suitable acquisition and

SREENPELAERE

partnership opportunities 30% 19.3 = 19.3
Incorporation of overseas subsidiaries TR LGN E A A 23% 14.9 13 13.6
Establishment of research and EEBRUMERL

development center in Hong Kong 17% 11.0 0.2 10.8
Recruiting high caliber talents BREAANT 1% 7.1 1.6 5.5
Utilised as additional working capital ~ F{FEINEEE S REA

and other general corporate purposes —REERE 10% 6.5 6.5 =
Brand promotion e 9% 5.8 42 1.6
Total "E 64.6 13.8 50.8

050 e o o 0 O —F—tFEHE Annual Report 2017



Report of the Directors

The unutilized net proceeds have been placed as interest deposits with
licensed banks in Hong Kong. In the event that the Directors decide to use
such net proceeds in a manner different from that stated in the Prospectus,
the Company will issue further announcement in compliance with the Listing
Rules.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review on the Group’s business performance and the material
factors underlying its financial position, as well as the development and likely
future prospects of the Group’s business are provided throughout this annual
report and in particular under the following separate sections:

(@) review of the Company’s business and financial position, and
development and future prospects of the Company’s business are shown
in the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report;

(b)  details of key performance indicators are shown in the sections headed
“Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this annual report;

(c)  the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company are shown in
the “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” set out in the following section of
this report; and

(d) particulars of important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the Year are shown in the section headed
“Subsequent Event” in this report.

The discussions referred to in the above form part of this Report of the
Directors.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management and internal control.
The process by which the Group identifies and manages risk is set out in more
details in the corporate governance report of this annual report. The following
highlights some of the key risks affect the Group’s business:

. The Group’s business is project-based. The types of projects we carry
out will vary and, in turn, our revenue mix may vary from time to time.
Fee collection and profit margin depend on the terms of the quotation
and may not be regular;

. The duration of our projects varies and our clients do not have long term
commitments with us;

. We depend on our suppliers and contractors to complete our projects
and to implement measures or procedures during the execution of our
projects;
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. Our success is dependent on the retention of key management
personnel;

. Our business is dependent on the luxury goods sector and global
economic conditions; and

. Luxury brands may reduce reliance on physical stores.

Please also refer to the note 26 to the audited consolidated financial statements
for the financial risks facing by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group fully understands that employees, clients, suppliers and
subcontractors are the key to our sustainable and stable development. The
Group is committed to establishing a close relationship with its employees,
enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and sub-contractors and providing
high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure the Group’s sustainable
development.

(a) Employees

Human resources and talents are vital to the creative business of
the Group. The Group offers a comprehensive range and attractive
remuneration package, insurance benefits, training opportunities and
clear career path with promotion opportunities to its employees. The
Group also continues to improve and regularly review and update its
policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational safety and
health. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees and
the turnover rate is low.

(b) Clients
The majority of the Group’s clients are global luxury goods and
high-end fashion brands with retail boutiques across the world. It is
the Group’s mission to satisfy different clients’ needs. The Group has
established business relationships with its five largest clients for an
average of over five years.

The Group has also established procedures in handling clients’ feedback
and complaints to ensure that clients’ opinions are dealt with in a
prompt and timely manner.
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(c) Suppliers and Sub-contractors
The Group generally do not enter into long term contracts with its
suppliers and its orders are placed on an as-needed basis depending
on the project schedule. The Group has established a long term and
stable relationships with its five largest suppliers and sub-contractors for
over six years on average. Over the years, the Group has been working
closely with them and have maintained good relationships.

In order to have a better and close monitoring of suppliers’ performance,
the Group’s management regularly conducts performance reviews
targeting the Group’s major suppliers and subcontractors and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

Further discussions on the relationship with key stakeholders is set out in the
ESG Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives
to minimize its environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group believes that it
is essential for it to be as environmentally responsible as possible in the
execution of its projects. The fit-out construction services provided by its
subcontractors in Hong Kong are subject to certain laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection.

Further discussions on the environmental policies is set out in the ESG Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries
with projects located in various locations such as Hong Kong, Asia (excluding
Hong Kong and PRC), Europe and the Middle East. The Group’s establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with all applicable laws in the
jurisdictions where it has operations. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief on the date of this annual report, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company.

Further discussions on the compliance with laws and regulations is set out in
the ESG Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group at
that date are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements on pages
75 to 79 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 23 November 2017
(the “2017 AGM"), the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 17 November 2017 to Thursday, 23 November 2017, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2017 AGM, all transfers of
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 16
November 2017.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the Year, together with summary of the financial results and of
the assets and liabilities of the Group for the four years ended 30 June 2016 is
set out on page 136 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the
Year are set out in note 12 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 30 June 2017, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$24,000,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 2,400,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year, together
with the reasons therefor, are set out in note 18 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
in notes 19 and 27(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$53.4 million. Such amount represented the sum of the Company’s
share premium and retained earnings or accumulated losses, which may
be distributable provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary of business.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12
September 2016. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Period Under Review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue derived from the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for approximately 44.0% of the total revenue of the Group for
the Year and revenue derived from the largest client for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$12.3 million for the Year, representing approximately
12.4% of the Group’s total revenue. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 43.1% of the total cost for the Year and
purchase from the largest supplier for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$12.5 million for the Year, representing approximately 16.6% of the
Group's total direct cost.

One of the five largest suppliers was Max Contracting Limited (“Max
Contracting”) in which Mr. Lee is interested in approximately 33.3%
shareholding. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had a
material interest in the five largest clients or five largest suppliers of the Group
during the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
HK$1,020,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau King Lok

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Lau Lap Yan John

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

(appointed on 22 August 2016)
(appointed on 22 August 2016)
(appointed on 22 August 2016)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Lee
Wai Sang, Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin will retire
by rotation at the 2017 AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against it Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their
respective offices; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

Save for the above, at no time during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision (as defined
in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of
the Laws of Hong Kong)) being in force for the benefit at any of the Directors
(whether made by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of an
associated company (if made by the Company).

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Details of the Directors’ profiles are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors emoluments are set out in note 7 to the audited
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either party
on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been by way of a letter of
appointment appointed for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served
by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2017 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
FROM THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations, the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’” INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for transaction as disclose in the section headed “Non-Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this annual report, no transaction, arrangements
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance had
been entered into between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and the
Controlling Shareholder(s) or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, and underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long Position

The Company/Name of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/Nature of interest

BEME NGVl AL e g/ EaltE

EERTETHAASEADAIEMERE
Boke HERORESFERNER

kX

RIZ—+FRAZ+H ARBEERTETBAER
ARAREEEAE (TR ESFRBEEPEXVE) /)
Bfn - HERG REFTHEELERAAAREES RS
EERFEINERTREENECMOESIAR SR E
ZETAMERRAIRBRITMERARNT

#R

Name and class of Shares held/

interested in the Company/associated  Percentage of

corporation  shareholding
RARE/ B ERREZ
By aRMER s RERSL

Lee Wai Sang The Company Interest in a controlled corporation 1,800,000,000 Shares 75%
and interest of spouse (Note)
PE4E YN R EE R R B 1,800,000,0008% Bz 17 (#772) 75%
CGH (BVI) Limited Beneficial owner and interest of 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100%
spouse (Note)
CGH (BVI) Limited Balis AR BER 100 &1 %0 LBk (f72F) 100%

Note: Such Shares were registered in the name of CCH (BVI), a company owned as to 50%
and 50% by Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO,
Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by CGH (BVI). Besides, Mr.
Lee is the spouse of Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Lee is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Ms. Leung is
deemed to be interested. Each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung is a director of CGH (BVI).
Mr. Lee is also deemed to be interested in the shares of CGH (BVI) held by Ms. Leung.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2017, none of the Directors and/or chief
executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which each of them has taken or deemed to have
taken under the SFO), or which would be required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register required to be kept therein or which
would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2017, to the best knowledge of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the table below listed out the persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who had interests in
the Shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Position

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

BREHE a1,/ EmitE

EE

FERRREMATREAR TR RAER
HHEERKXR

RZZ—tEXAZ+R RARFESRSREEEM
R TREFIRAR ARG RAAER DT EEREES
REEBRAEXVEHEREID PEARNAD B ER
BRAQRREE S RBERHIXVEEI6ERTTER
BEREEMnERNA L (PTEREARRAEEREIZTH
AE)JINT

#e

Number of Shares Percentage of

held/interest in shareholding
8/ BEREREN
Rin& 8 REBEDL

CGH (BVI) Limited Beneficial Owner 1,800,000,000 75%
(Note)

CGH (BVI) Limited EREAA 1,800,000,000 (#74#) 75%

Leung Mo Shan Jackie Interest in a controlled corporation and interest of 1,800,000,000 75%
spouse (Note)

25 R EEE R R BER 1,800,000,000 (A77%) 75%

Note: Such Shares were registered in the name of CGH (BVI), which is owned as to 50%
and 50% by each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of
the SFO, Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by CCH (BVI).
Besides, Ms. Leung is the spouse of Mr. Lee. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the
SFO, Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr.
Lee is deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2017, the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are not aware of any other person who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time
during the Year was the Company or its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by
means of acquisitions of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2016, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme, which
falls within the ambit of, and is subject to the regulations under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective during
the period commencing on 12 September 2016 and ending on 11 September
2026, being the date falling ten years from the date on which the Share Option
Scheme became unconditional. A summary of the Share Option Scheme is as
follows:

(1) The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees, to attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group, to provide additional incentive or rewards to employees
(full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors, contractors,
suppliers, customers and shareholders of the Group.

(2)  The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director,
contractor, supplier, consultant, advisor, customer or shareholder of
the Group options to subscribe for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option shall
be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, the independent
non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis of his
contribution or potential contribution to the development and growth of
the Group.

(3)  An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 7 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable
by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of an option is HK$10.

(4)  Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
of grant of the share options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of a share
option before it can be exercised.

(5)  The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be at
least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant
of the option.
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Report of the Directors

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

()

subject to sub-paragraph 6(b) and 6(c) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose,
Shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted
but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of our
Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of all our Shares
in issue, being 2,400,000,000 Shares as at the Listing Date (the
“General Scheme Limit”). Based on the number of Shares in issue
on the Listing Date, the General Scheme Limit of the Share Option
Scheme is 240,000,000 Shares.

The General Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the Shareholders in general meeting
provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of our Company) will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10% limit.

The Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting for granting options beyond the General Scheme
Limit provided the options in excess of the General Scheme
Limit are granted only to grantees specifically identified by our
Company before such approval is sought.

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company if this will result in such 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
Any further grant of options in excess of such limit must be separately
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his
associates abstaining from voting.
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A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof.

No options under the Share Option Scheme had been granted since its
adoption. As such, the total number of Shares available for issue upon exercise
of the share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme was
240,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in note 23 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

Upon the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 12 September 2016,
certain related party transactions set out in note 23 to the audited consolidated
financial statements are regarded as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Group. Save for those as disclosed below, none
of which is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Given that Mr. Lee is an executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Lee and his associates are “connected persons” of the Company under
Rules 14A.07(1) and (4) of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated
8 May 2017, the Group has carried out the following continuing connected
transactions (other than the continuing connected transactions that are fully
exempted under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules) with Mr. Lee’s associates
during the Year:

1. Max Contracting Framework Agreement

On 22 August 2016, the Company as purchaser entered into a
framework agreement (“Max Contracting Framework Agreement”) with
Max Contracting as supplier for a term commencing from 12 September
2016 to 30 June 2018 whereby the Group shall purchase furniture,
fixture and woodwork from Max Contracting. The price for woodwork,
furniture and fixture to be supplied to the Company under the Max
Contracting Framework Agreement, has been and continue to be
determined by reference to the costs of materials plus a markup within
the range of 10% to 25% to be agreed on an arm’s length basis.
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As Max Contracting is owned as to approximately 33.3% by Mr. Lee,
Max Contracting is an associate of Mr. Lee, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company.

The annual cap for the transaction amount with Max Contracting under
the Max Contracting Framework Agreement for the year ended 30 June
2017 is HK$10 million. For the year ended 30 June 2017, the actual
transaction amount paid/payable to Max Contracting amounted to
approximately HK$3.3 million.

Max Furniture Framework Agreement

On 22 August 2016, the Company as purchaser entered into a
framework agreement (the “Max Furniture Framework Agreement”) with
Max Furniture Shenzhen Company Limited (ZAKREGFINER DR
(“Max Furniture”) as supplier for a term commencing from 12 September
2016 to 30 June 2018 whereby the Group shall purchase woodwork
from Max Furniture. The price of woodwork to be supplied to the
Company under the Max Furniture Framework Agreement has been and
continue to be determined by reference to the costs of materials plus a
markup within the range of 10% to 25% to be agreed on an arm’s length
basis.

As Max Furniture is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Max Contracting
and Max Contracting is in turn owned as to approximately 33.3% by
Mr. Lee, Max Furniture is an associate of Mr. Lee, and is therefore a
connected person of the Company.

The annual cap for the transaction amount with Max Furniture under the
Max Furniture Framework Agreement for the year ended 30 June 2017 is
HK$1 million. For the year ended 30 June 2017, the actual transaction
amount paid/payable to Max Furniture amounted to approximately
HK$0.1 million.

HFL Quotations

Three quotations prepared by the Group were agreed and confirmed by
HFL Limited on 20 April 2017 (“HFL Quotations”) to provide interior
design proposal, project management, and interior design solutions
(including fit-out construction services, millworks provision and facade
development and fabrication services) (“HFL Project”).

On 5 May 2017, ANT Investment Holdings Limited, a company owned
as to 50% by each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung, acquired 45% of the
equity interest in HFL Limited via the allotment of new shares of HFL
Limited. Accordingly, HFL Limited becomes an associate of Mr. Lee and
is therefore a connected person of the Company, and the HFL Project
and the HFL Quotations become continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules. The HFL Project had been fully
completed in July 2017.
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Details of the HFL Quotations are summarized as follows: BRECREFAFIIOT -
First Quotation - Interior Design Solutions —HBRE-EARTERIER
Terms: April 2017 to July 2017

R H - R FNAZRZE—tF LA

Products and Services: e Fit-out construction services

2 o SR - o ENERRBRG

e Millworks provision
o TE FERARMUE
* Facade development and fabrication services

o BREREREERT

Total Quotation Sum: HK$7,293,806

ARESE: 7,293,806/ 70

Basis of Pricing: The Company adopts cost-plus pricing model for the determination of total quotation sum, the
EEEE: percentage of mark-up is in line with other interior design solutions projects of the Company

ARARAFRARANKEENEABTRRESE  2ENBNHLBERRAACEARIFRNRERE —H

Second Quotation - Interior Design Proposal “HBRE-EARFHE

Terms: April 2017 to July 2017

RIS - 2 HEMAZZE—tELA

Products and Services: Restaurant concept design for 9 Seafood Place Restaurant, including materials selection, full set
2 o SR - drawing, 3D rendering and three concept options

NRBHBEXNEERTRT - BRERDH 2288 IDMRERZEHSHR

Total Quotation Sum: HK$500,000

BRESE - 500,000/ T

Basis of Pricing: For project where the Company is engaged for both interior design proposal (concept design)
EEREE: and interior design solution (including fit-out construction services, millworks provision and

facade development and fabrication services), total quotation sum for the interior design proposal
project represents 5-10% of the total quotation sum for the interior design solutions project
RARAEZBERUEARANREBERT) REARABATR (BREARERRRE  ©8 - HB

RAHMHE BEREMMERE) NS EARGHIRAENERESBEEARTRATRARN
BRESBEL5E10%
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Third Quotation - Project Management

Terms:

R -

April 2017 to July 2017
ZHFOAEE-+FLA

Products and Services:

B RR EREHER BEUTRMERZHE

EE

F-MHRE-RAEE

Overall project management including the following food license application:

* provisional license as required by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

RMBEFEERENE EER

o RURSKELEEATHEARR

HK$160,000
160,000/ 7T

Total Quotation Sum:

Basis of Pricing:

full license as required by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

The Company adopts cost-plus pricing model for the determination of total quotation sum, the

percentage of mark-up is in line with other project management projects of the Company

EEREE:

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

As the transactions contemplated under the Max Contracting Framework
Agreement and the Max Furniture Framework Agreement were and will be
carried out on a continuing basis and will extend over a period of time,
the Directors consider that strict compliance with the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules
would be impractical, unduly burdensome and would impose unnecessary
administrative costs on the Company. Accordingly, pursuant to Rule 14A.105
of the Listing Rules, the Group has applied for, and the Stock Exchange
has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements as may otherwise be
required under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Max
Contracting Framework Agreement and the Max Furniture Framework
Agreement and all transactions contemplated under them.
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Report of the Directors
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Annual Review of Continuing Connected

Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that
for the year ended 30 June 2017, the continuing connected transactions as set
out above have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hog Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued an unqualified letter to the Board containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
provided a copy of the auditor’s letter to the Stock Exchange as required under
Rule 14A.57 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules throughout the Period Under Review and
has continued to maintain such float as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders nor their respective
associates were interested in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the Period Under Review.

088 e o o 0 O —F—tFEHE Annual Report 2017

REBEXZNFEER

BUFNTESCERLER BE-T
AR EXFAEBERERS

—tFRA=T

(1 REAGERER-—REXBEFAL:

2 B-REXEFIEEGRRTL: R

() BEREEBRZOWEIL GHROFEE L
BRAADARBEROBENE -

ARAZEMEEZEEREACHMRERAN(ES
&%lwﬁWM%mwﬂmLJ>%V&%@rf%%
BRI BT R2B(EBRHA)E7405% R
THRBFTREN S ERER ZNGEM R ER
EXGHERE - ZRBMEMNESSR L —NEREE
Rt EhHERELTRAIEI4AS6KEHE LEE
BEISNER LR - ARFIERE EMRAIZE14A57
{1 Bt 32 P B AL 2 AR R S ) B o

RANDRERE
ENFARNENANAN REREHA AL AR O
BN ERS LTRAMTRNAREREURNAS
REBDEARSERARERE -

EERGERENESR

REESRE RE LTRAESI0GRT - EFREBRR
REEEEANBRANENMEMERRBEELARER
ERBRBEFAAEERRFNEB AR -



Report of the Directors

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of the Controlling Shareholders have
entered into the deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) in
favour of the Company on 22 August 2016 pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders irrevocably undertake to the Group that they will not and will
procure their close associates (except any member of the Group) not to,
directly or indirectly (whether in the capacity of principal or agent, whether
for its own benefit or jointly with or on behalf of any person, firm or company,
whether within or outside China), commence, engage in, participate in or
acquire any business which competes or may compete directly or indirectly
with the core business of the Group, being interior design business (“Restricted
Business”) or own any rights or interests in such business.

Details of the Deed of Non-competition have been set out in the paragraph
headed “Relationship with our controlling shareholders — Non-competition
Undertaking” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance and that of their
respective close associates with the Deed of Non-competition since the Listing
Date and up to 30 June 2017. The independent non-executive Directors,
having reviewed the confirmations and the status of compliance, were satisfied
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition have been
complied with by the Controlling Shareholders and duly enforced since the
Listing Date and up to 30 June 2017.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance for
enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving the interests
of its Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted and committed
to the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules and has prepared the corporate governance report, which is
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report. The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the information of
the Directors are set out below:

Each of Mr. Lau King Lok and Mr. Lai Hon Lam Carman, executive Directors,
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January
2017.
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Report of the Directors
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 11 August 2017, CROSSTEC International (contracting for itself and all
other members of the Group) as service provider and Mr. Lee (contracting for
Lee Group) as service recipient entered into the Master Services Agreement
in respect of the provision of interior design proposal and interior design
solutions by the Group for the restaurants of Lee Group in Hong Kong,
which shall be for a term commencing from the date of the Company’s
obtaining the independent shareholders’ approval on the aforesaid Master
Services Agreement and the continuing connected transactions contemplated
thereunder (including proposed annual caps) and ending on 30 June 2020.

Given that Mr. Lee is an executive Director and a Controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Lee and his associates are “connected persons” of the Company under
Rules 14A.07(1) and (4) of the Listing Rules. The transactions between the
members of the Group and members of Lee Group under the Master Services
Agreement will therefore constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11 August
2017 and the circular of the Company dated 29 September 2017.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been audited
by BDO Limited, who will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the 2017 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO
Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the 2017 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wai Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report

IBDO

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CROSSTEC GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(ZREEERERLH)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Crosstec Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereafter collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 75 to 135, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2017, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

S@EMERAMRDLT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® e o o 089

B RHERE

FEEERERERAARE
(RESHEZMA A ERLF])

R

EECERSREARRERAA ([ERR)) REME
RE (PSR ERE ) BRE7SE135R 0GR MHR
o HEEMBRRRER - Z—tF A=THNEGA
MHMRE  BEZRLFENGAREREM2ERE
R GARDEIRNEARERER  URRANHR
KT (AR BREAGHUKME) -

ESUE GANBERCREELEHPLE (BEE
SRR BANEBHEAL R (ERHBESE
A EEFAFHRSR ERER-F—LERA=1A
MEABBIR - RARERA L FENEAHBERR
GARERE  YERBEELIRDINBRRRES!
Blo

BRER

BERREAGHMAGRANEALHER ([BALK
BRI ) ETERIE - BERELFEAAENREFL
RAZEMRE [ ZBEAR BRSSP HRRALNEL]
—H# - REFBGHMAGN [ EXETHMBRTAI(T
Al BB E5E AESERETAETEM
ERAL - FEHE BEMESNEREERRATE
BEHRBESNEREAREER



070 -

Independent Auditor’s Report
MR ik

AR N ERILI I

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts

As described in the Significant Accounting Policies in Note 3.1(e) and (g) and
Note 3.2(a) to the consolidated financial statements, the Group recognises
revenue and costs associated with its interior solutions projects based on the
stage of completion of contract activity at the end of the reporting period,
when the outcome of construction contracts can be estimated reliably. The
stage of completion of contracts is established by reference to the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated
total contract costs. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue for a contract, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

As detailed in Notes 5 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group’s interior solutions projects contract revenue and costs for the
year ended 30 June 2017 amounted to approximately HK$51,972,000 and
HK$45,323,000, respectively, which were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The Group’s
amounts due from customers for contract work and amounts due to
customers for contract work as at 30 June 2017, as detailed in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements, amounted to approximately HK$2,341,000
and HK$449,000 respectively.

We identified the accounting for construction contracts as a key audit matter
as it requires management to exercise significant judgement on the outcome
and stage of completion of each construction contract and to estimate the
costs to complete and the profitability of each on-going construction contract
during the reporting period, and the associated financial statement items are
quantitatively significant to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Our response:

Our principal audit procedures in relation to accounting for construction
contracts are as follows:

- Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating internal controls on
recognition of contract revenue and costs;

- Discussing with project managers and the Group’s management about
the progress of the on-going construction contracts;

- Checking the contract sum to the underlying construction contracts
entered into with the customers and other relevant correspondences and
supporting documents in respect of variations in construction works or
price adjustments, on a sample basis;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matters (continued)

Accounting for construction contracts (continued)

- Evaluating the reasonableness of approved budgeted costs, including
(i) for subcontracting costs contracted for, agreeing the budgeted costs
to the underlying contracts; (i) for estimation of costs not supported
by contracts, checking that the costs are included in accordance with
the construction contracts; and (iii) comparing the budgeted data with
the actual data recorded, taking into account the stage of completion
achieved, on a sample basis;

- Assessing the reasonableness of contract revenue recognised and the
stage of completion by reference to the actual cost incurred to date over
the approved budgeted costs on sample basis;

- Checking on a sample basis the progress billings and the actual costs
incurred on construction works to the underlying supporting documents
during the reporting period; and

- Reviewing financial budget prepared by the Group’s management for
each on-going construction contract to assess whether expected loss on
contract was properly recognised as an expense immediately.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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cso0002000¢

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ngai Hang

Practising Certificate Number P04743

Hong Kong, 29 September 2017
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Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and GRERREMZEKRER
Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2017 AEZ T+ A=1THIFE

2016

HK$'000
TET

99,094

(75,232)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position RERBRRER
As at 30 June 2017 R-F—tFNA=+H

HK$'000
TET

4,301
1,328

* The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000. * GBI LRI000E T2 25
On behalf of the board of directors REEZES
Mr. Lee Wai Sang Mr. Leung Pak Yin
FRERE REREE
Director Director
R S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity RERZ2BX

For the year ended 30 June 2017 BE T+ H=THIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARARANER
Retained
profits/
Share Merger  Exchange (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses)
Share capital ~ (Note 19())  (Note 19(if)) ~ (Note 19(iii))  (Note 19(iv)) Total
BEH/

REE  AKEE  EiRE (2HER)
RA (BEroq)  (BERon)  (BEoG)  (RiFEE9Gw) @z

* The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000.
* ZRHERZLRIL0008T2 25
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately
HK$44,705,000 (2016: HK$8,883,000) in the consolidated statement of financial — * WEGERBIFE T BRI ARG A F 44,705,000
position. T (ZF =7V - 8,883,000 ) A
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows RERERER
For the year ended 30 June 2017 BE-F—tE =1 HIFE

HK$'000
TAT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued) HEBEHFRER ()
For the year ended 30 June 2017 BE T+ H=THIFE

HK$'000
TET
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General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 March
2016, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2004 revision) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at the offices of P.O. Box
1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. In July 2017, the headquarter and principal place of business in
Hong Kong has been changed from Room 1505, 625 King’s Road, North
Point, Hong Kong to 20th Floor, 625 King’s Road, North Point, Hong
Kong.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 12
September 2016 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and fagade
fabrication and provision of interior design, project consultancy and
interior solutions services (the “Listing Business”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s immediate and ultimate
holding company is CGH (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands.
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1. General Information (continued) 1. —RERE)
Information about subsidiaries FRAREARANER
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: ARAIRBRRMFERT -
Issued and fully
Place and date of Percentage of paid ordinary Principal
incorporation and equity attributable share capital or activities and principal
Name of entity form of business structure to the Company registered capital place of business
) Direct  Indirect )
. S % R AR EEARAR B \ |
ERaR XBRERA AVAE%J‘QHWEEF%E BARERER IREPRIREFNE
Ak
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1. General Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of Percentage of
incorporation and equity attributable
Name of entity form of business structure to the Company
Direct  Indirect
FEMARIIEE R B EA R
ERaR *BRBIA ARRIEEREEN L

E % fl&

SRR DDDODRE s 000D
resreen0000000

1. —RERE)

REMBARNEN ()
ARANBRARMFENT : ()

Issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital or
registered capital

BRETRAEEER
BAREMER

Principal
activities and principal
place of business

IREPHRIREFNE
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.1 Group Reorganisation and Basis of
Presentation and Preparation

(a)

Group reorganisation

Pursuant to the group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”)
carried out by the Group in preparation for the Listing and for
the purpose of rationalising the Group’s structure, the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising
the Group on 22 March 2016. Details of the Reorganisation are
as set out in the section headed “History and Reorganisation —
Reorganisation” to the prospectus issued by the Company dated
30 August 2016.

Basis of presentation

The Reorganisation involved the combination of a number
of entities engaged in the Listing Business that were under
common control before and after the Reorganisation. The Group
is therefore regarded as a continuing entity resulting from the
Reorganisation, as there has been a continuation of the risks and
benefits to the ultimate controlling parties that existed prior to the
Reorganisation.

Accordingly, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2016 has been prepared
using the principles of merger accounting as if the current group
structure had been in existence throughout those years, or since
their respective dates of incorporation or establishment of the
combining companies, or since the date when the combining
companies first came under the common control, whichever was
shorter. The assets and liabilities of the Group were combined
using their carrying values. All significant intra-group transactions
and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.
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SEEAURZIIRGHEE (B

2.1 Group Reorganisation and Basis of 2.1
Presentation and Preparation (continued)

RHEE

(c) Basis of preparation ()

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the financial

GEMBRRCREEBEHNAGREN
FEERNBEANBREER  BAGHE
BITEEesER)) e CATaRIEE
MBREER])  REBLAGHZBER
EMMH o U BHERRBERABAR
HHRARDREF LTRA ([ LR

statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules REZERRE -
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under FRMBRACRELHALERE -
the historical cost basis.

GEMBRRAAREZNRERET ([E
)25 BRAERN  ERESNE
RAZREEZ THE - ARESERUL
REZNEERBRRE RO

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands,
except when otherwise indicated. Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and records in its own functional currency.

FRERMBRERN(ERHER

HEA)

(a) BREHET/BETERUBRER
Bl - Z2-REtA-RREX
AEBENEEEMBRE B RFRTH
SR ERNBREEN

2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 2.2
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 July 2016
The Group has adopted the following new or revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2012 - 2014 BRUBASRN(BY) —2-—FE-R-IF
Cycle BRFEYE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative BRGSENRE IR 2B BEHE

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of BEGHENZIRR  BEMEREELIER
and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation BREHEAENE i
B
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial BRRMRRNEYSE  ERMBERRTOERE
Statements B
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective

1 July 2016 (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Disclosure Initiative
The amendments are designed to encourage entities to use
judgement in the application of HKAS 1 when considering the
layout and content of their financial statements.

Included in the clarifications is that an entity’s share of other
comprehensive income from equity accounted interests in
associates and joint ventures is split between those items that
will and will not be reclassified to profit or loss, and presented in
aggregate as a single line item within those two groups.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 - Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit the use of a revenue-based
depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment.
The amendments to HKAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption
that amortisation based on revenue is not appropriate for
intangible assets. This presumption can be rebutted if either the
intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue or revenue
and the consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible
asset are highly correlated. The amendments are applied
prospectively.

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these financial
statements as the Group has not previously used revenue-based
depreciation methods.

Amendments to HKAS 27 — Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements

The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity method in
accounting for its investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in its separate financial statements. The amendments
are applied retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 July 2016 (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 27 — Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements (continued)

The adoption of the amendments has no impact on these financial
statements as the Company has not elected to apply the equity
method in its separate financial statements.

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group's current intention is to apply these changes on the date
they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses'

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?
Amendments to Revenue from Contracts with
HKFRS 15 Customers (Clarifications to
HKFRS 15)?
HKFRS 16 Leases®
HK (IFRIC) - Foreign Currency Transactions and
Interpretation 22 Advance Consideration?
HK (IFRIC) - Uncertainty over Income Tax
Interpretation 23 Treatments®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

Amendments to HKAS 7 — Disclosure Initiative

The amendments introduce an additional disclosure that will
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 12 — Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

The amendments relate to the recognition of deferred tax assets
and clarify some of the necessary considerations, including how
to account for deferred tax assets related to debt instruments
measured of fair value.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows (the business model test) and
that have contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding (the contractual cash flow characteristics test) are
generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet
the contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) if the
objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold and collect
the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets. Entities
may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to measure
equity instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All
other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all
financial assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred
loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge accounting
requirements to allow entities to better reflect their risk
management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS
39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the
amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit
risk of the liability is recognised in other comprehensive income
unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch.
In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition
framework. The core principle of the framework is that an
entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 15
supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and related
interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to
revenue recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to each performance
obligation

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when each performance obligation
is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue
related topics that may change the current approach taken under
HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the qualitative
and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.

Under HKFRS 15, an entity normally recognises when a
performance obligation is satisfied. Impact on the revenue
recognition may arise when multiple performance obligation are
identified. The adoption of HKFRS 15 will have an impact on the
Group's revenue recognition of construction contracts and the
Group expects that it may have impact on the timing, amounts
and disclosures made in the Group’s financial statements and is
not yet in a position to provide quantified information. This new
standard is not expected to be applied until the financial year
ended 30 June 2019.

Amendments HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on
identification of performance obligations; application of principal
versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and transition
requirements.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS
17 “Leases” and related interpretations, introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and
liabilities for all leases with a term of more 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16,
a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing
its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly,
a lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of use asset
and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash
repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an
interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows.
Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially
measured on a present value basis. The measurement includes
non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to
be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise an option to extend the lease, or to exercise an option
to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly
different from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as
operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of
leases differently.

As set out in Note 21 below, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of the Group
in respect of office premises and equipments as at 30 June 2017
amounted to approximately HK$28,139,000. The directors of the
Company do not expect the adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared
with the current accounting policy would result in significant
impact on the Group’s financial performance but it is expected
that the Group has to separately recognise the interest expense
on the lease liabilities and the depreciation expense on the
right-of-use assets, and that certain portion of the future minimum
lease payments under the Group’s operating leases will be
required to be recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
The Group will also be required to remeasure the lease liabilities
upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g. a change in the lease
term) and recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liabilities as an adjustment to the right-of-use assets. In addition,
payments for the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be
presented within financing activities in the Group’s consolidated
cash flow statement.
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2.2 Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)

HK (IFRIC) - Interpretation 22 — Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

The interpretation specifies that the date of a transaction for
the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on
the derecognition of non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration, is
the date on which that non-monetary asset or liability was initially
recognised.

In other words, the related income, expense or asset should not be
remeasured for changes in exchange rates occurring between the
date of initial recognition of the advance consideration and the
date of recognition of the transaction to which that consideration
relates.

HK (IFRIC) - Interpretation 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and
measurement requirements in HKAS 12 Income Taxes when there
is uncertainty over income tax treatments, addressing four specific
issues:

- Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately;

- The assumptions an entity should make about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;

- How an entity determines taxable profit or loss, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and

- How an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances

Except for HKFRS15 and HKFRS16 mentioned above, the Group is
not yet in a position to state whether these new pronouncements
will result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting
policies and financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Business combination and basis of

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the effective dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those used by other members of the Group.

Other than business combination under common control
for which merger accounting method is used, acquisition of
subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer.
The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in
which case the costs are deducted from equity.

S@EMERAMRDLT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® e o o 091

bR e I

31 EXEHBERHE

(a)

ERAHRGREE

RAMBRREEARAREMBRR A
Bk - RES QRN ARER 5 REHE
ARERENENEHR SRR BRES
REHH - AEABRTCHE  HHRS
EEBRRTEREECRERNRI - Rt
BRAT BRIV ERERD -

FABARHEZMBLRZ$EANEL
HEHRFAEHELMA S (@A) A
GeRGELAMZAKER - WERE K
HIWBAR 2 HBRRELBR - A
EREHHREAKBE KB AR MER
E-He

BEREH T 2EBAMRAA G EE
S WEME DR EBRBUEEN -
WERATRMEZEE MELRERS
SE(ERYEN) BT RERIERERZ
NPEREE - IRB 2 AR EE R
AERBEIERUBERAZATEAE A
SEEAMEREEL 2 REARBERZ
NHEEHFE - MAEL 2 RaERERER
NEZTRR - AREUERERIHEER
RPERBEEREES 2 TR EEFE
ZLPHERMBARBEBR A RARE
SRR - TR IR IR R
RYEFE  ERAMBREEARERLR
it 8RRRIN - FEL 2 WEBRBNA
— BRI - BB AEERBEITRA
TAME#ETHRESD -



Notes to Financial Statements

B SR M aE

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling
interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if the
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition
plus such non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this results in those
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (1) power over the investee;
(2) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee; and
(3) the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 3.1
(continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment © Nx BERRHE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase
price and the costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write
off their cost net of expected residual value over their estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

The shorter of the period of the
respective lease or 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures 25%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 30%

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as
borrowing costs capitalized during the periods of construction
and installation. Capitalization of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate class
of property, plant and equipment when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use
are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated
recoverable amount.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets, or where
shorter, the terms of the relevant leases.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and
its carrying amount, and is recognised in the profit or loss on
disposal.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(i) Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are mainly classified as loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at
the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They arise principally through the
provision of goods and services to customers (trade
receivables), and also incorporate other types of contractual
monetary assets. Loans and receivables are initially
recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (as incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective
evidence of impairment may include:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor or the
group of debtors;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

- it becoming probable that the debtor or the group
of debtors will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial assets such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
general credit period, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

The amount of impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. When any part of financial asset is determined
to be uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for the relevant financial asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(d) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables and
amount due to a director. They are initially recognised
at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs
incurred, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the years. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability,
or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group entities after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
a group entity are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
(d) Financial instruments (continued)
(vi)  Derecognition

(vii)

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to the
financial asset expire or when the Group has transferred its
rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b)
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(e)

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts for variation orders, claims and incentive
payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result
in revenue, and they are capable of being reliably measured.
Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific
contract and costs that are attributable to contract activity in
general and can be allocated to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a specific contract comprise site labour costs (including
site supervision); costs of subcontracting; costs of materials used
in construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract;
costs of design, and technical assistance that is directly related to
the contract.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and contract costs associated with the
construction contract are recognised as revenue and expenses
respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract activity at the end of each reporting period.

The outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably
when: (i) the total contract revenue can be measured reliably;
(i) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
contract will flow to the entity; (iii) the costs to complete the
contract and the stage of completion can be measured reliably;
and (iv) the contract costs attributable to the contract can be
clearly identified and measured reliably so that actual contract
costs incurred can be compared with prior estimates. When the
outcome of a construction cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that are
expected to be recoverable, and contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated
as an amount due from contract customers.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(f)

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other
than the currency of the primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end
of reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those
ruling when the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at
the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities” separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the
Group’s net investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity as foreign exchange reserve.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i) Income from interior solutions projects is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the contracts, provide that the
stage of contract completion and the contract costs of the
contracting work can be measured reliably. The stage of
completion of a contract is established by reference to the
proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed
to date bear to the estimated total contract costs (Note
3.1(e));

(i)  Design and project consultancy service income is
recognised upon services rendered;
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(g)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii) ~ Sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered
and the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the
customer; and

(iv)  Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities are
recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items directly recognised in other comprehensive income
in which case the taxes are also directly recognised in other
comprehensive income.

100 e o o 0 O —F—tFEHE Annual Report 2017

3.1

EAEHBEME(E)

(g)

WARR (&)
(i) EERMCROUREREHNERK
OHRCEBTEPE - ARIEmH
&R
(iv) MBMARKEERSRBERNE
RESAERRG -

Fr G
AERHEHRENHHERELERA -

BBBIET R A LB RFIREA B
FIEBT S BARBET TR 2B A fE
BE RERLMADHFIEL LEHE
2HEHE -

EXRBGIEMBREMANEERAR
ZEEEE - ERREMRORRRE LR
EEMBER - GATEE RERBEF 2
ERREERABI SAAERERE
RETHAAE - AT ERTNH LR
EEEHERAPRNE - ETHAEENE
B BEHADUSREAREHNTERE
BLoHEcRERRER  RRANEEE
EREEREREEZS BRER R EE

et
(=1
Ft

BAREAEHADERZENER  BE
BEERATRHRTEREEN  AREF
RMBRAIZREMELZ ERHERER
RELHEALE -

FIERITRNBETHER - REREHRER
At zARaERERCREAR  A)tE
AT ZEWETR At 2 TS ERER o



Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
at their fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding lease commitment is shown
as a liability. Lease payments are analysed between capital and
interest. The interest element is charged to the profit or loss over
the period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents a
constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital element
reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are charged
to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives received are recognised as an integrated part of
the total rental expense, over the term of the lease.
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(k) Impairment of non-financial assets

(N

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and
investments in a subsidiary to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or
an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operates outside Hong Kong are required to participate
in pension schemes. The Company is required to make
contributions for these employees, pursuant to the local
regulations. The contributions are charged to profit or loss,
as they become payable in accordance with the respective
rules of the pension schemes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(N

Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised when they
accrue to employees. In particular, a provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.
Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

(iii)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks which are not restricted as to use.

Related parties
(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.
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3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

(n) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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Notes to Financial Statements

3.1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(o) Customer incentive programmes

The Group operates a incentive programme since September
2015 where a customer accumulated points for purchases made
at specific levels within designated periods which entitle them
to collect the discount vouchers for their future purchases.
The reward points are recognised as a separately identifiable
component of the initial sales transaction by allocating the fair
value of the consideration received between the award points and
the other components of the sale such that the reward points are
initially recognised as deferred income at their fair value. Revenue
from the reward points is recognised when the discount vouchers
are redeemed. Reward points accumulated within designated
periods expire 24 months after the points converted to discount
voucher.

3.2 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of each
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in
the assumptions when they occur.

(a)  Construction contract revenue recognition

Recognised amounts of construction contract revenue and related
receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each contract’s
outcome and stage of completion, which are determined on the
basis of a number of estimates. This includes the assessment of
the profitability of on-going construction contracts during the
reporting period. For more complex contracts in particular, costs
to complete and contract profitability are subject to significant
estimation uncertainty. The actual outcomes in terms of total cost
or revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the end
of each reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.
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3.2 Critical Accounting Judgements and

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

(b)  Impairment of trade and other receivables
The Group estimates impairment losses of trade and other
receivables resulting from the inability of the customers and
other debtors to make the required payments in accordance
with accounting policy stated in Note 3.1(d)(ii). The Group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the receivable balances,
debtors’ creditworthiness and historical write-off experience.
If the financial condition of the customers and debtors were to
deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.

(c)  Recognition of deferred tax assets

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based
on an assessment of the probability of the Group's future taxable
profit against which the deferred tax assets can be utilised, which
involves a number of assumptions and estimates relating to the
operating environment of the Group and requires a significant
level of judgement exercised by management. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the profit in future
periods.

Segment Information

Operating segments

The Group was principally engaged in the trading of millwork,
furniture and fagade fabrication and provision of interior design, project
consultancy and interior solutions services. Information reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole, as the Group’s resources are integrated
and no discrete operating segment financial information is available.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The following table sets out the information about the geographical
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers and
non-current assets other than financial instruments (“Specified
non-current assets”).

108 e o o 0 O —F—tFEHE Annual Report 2017

32 EEEHHBRMATTAREZEZE

ERR (&)

it RB®R (&)

) ERESRAMTERE
TEEEHREP RAMBH ARGEREN
3T & A BUR E L B AT E
EHENE S REM TR R ERBRIELE
it e ARERBEUGURSSROER - B
NEBLBEMBERAELGE - WEPR
EEANGHERRB - A ERMETES
BRfbE o

(c) ELHEEERR
HETHREENER DREAFAEER
RERB GO EEBETRREE
TRAREHZBRAAR S RFZEBA
SEEERENBRRMAT  EREEEE
ERAREMHERIEL - ZERRRAEH
TxENey EELRARERAENE
W% AMFERKAROLH -

2 EEH

e H
FEEIRNEHEDR HERARR  KE
PREEARREEART  BEFAREARR
HERRE - AARERRAERE  AAKEER
RERREGENERENTINA SR ERELH
BRE AARENERS-BEYEBILZDH
AR - Fit - YEZFNEEDHWER -

i E &R
TRANERAEERENBRERA BB
ZENURBERT BT EE (KT R
HEE) -



Notes to Financial Statements

bR e I

BEODe++« co 0000 P00 s s 00D DRPORBss s en®
ISR RNEE RS I I I RN N T IT] Il EEETT Y I
4. Segment Information (continued) 4. DHER(E)
Geographical information (continued) wEER (F)
The Group comprises the following main geographical segments: AEBZIZMRABERMT :

Revenue from external customers

REINBEP A

HK$'000
TAT

52,005

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the FHRAERREREPHEL -
customers.

Specified non-current assets

HEFRDEE

HK$'000
TAT

4,260
1
40

SEEEZERERAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® e e o o 107



Notes to Financial Statements

B SR M aE

s 0o 00020006

4. Segment Information (continued) 4.

Information about major customers
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or more of
the Group's total revenue during the year is as follows:

DEER (E)

FTEXFERN

RER  REMGREBARA10%I A FHEFH
WA

2017 2016

Client A BFA

Client B ZFB

Client C BFC

Client D ZFD

Total (Note) @it (hiz)
* Less than 10% of the Group’s revenue

Note: The total amount represents the sum of revenue attributed from the customers
that accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during the year
and therefore this sum excluded the amount hidden in “*” disclosed in table
above.

5. Revenue, Other Income and Other (Loss)/ 5.
Gain
Revenue includes the net invoiced value of goods sold, design and
project consultancy service rendered and contract revenue earned
from the interior solutions projects by the Group. The amounts of
each significant category of revenue recognised during the year are as
follows:

HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FA7
* 16,491

* 14,854

* 14,035
12,253 0
12,253 45,380

* DREEFRAE10%

Wit - BFEERFAREGTEEERAI0%TN LHES
HRARET] U EZS BT ERLRTREZ ]
2 EH -

WA~ B AR E M (B8) /W

WABEAEEHEEm  RERG RIEB FHR
BrEEFEUARENRATRBEMGHNEH
WA - RERE RS ERERNRARERT
T

2017 2016

Sales of products HEEM
~ Millwork and furniture -2 B BEERAHRREKE
— Facade fabrication -BlRgE

Income from interior solutions projects TRERHREB WA

Design and project consultancy service income Rat RIBR A ARBEWA
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5. Revenue, Other Income and Other (Loss)/ 5. WA Htm AR EA (B8) /WE

Gain (continued) (%)
An analysis of the Group’s other income and other (loss)/gain recognised AEERFANERANEMBAREM (B])
during the year is as follows: HODMMT :

HK$'000
TAT

152

6. (Loss)/Profit Before Income Tax Credit/ 6. BREFEHESR/ (FAX) A (FB) /
(Expense) i A
The Group's (loss)/profit before income tax credit/(expense) is arrived at AEBZRAGEHES,/ ()8 (BR) g
after charging/(crediting): GEIYACYNE

HK$'000
TAT

450

2,740
102
650

494
34

* At 30 June 2017, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce * REF—+FNH=1H  FEBTEE R HTT
its contributions to the pension scheme in future years (2016: Nil). UL ERFFRERZ B EEF (TN
FoE)
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7. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 7. EERFETBAEME
Remuneration
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed RELTHRR BERARGIF383(1)@) -~ (b) (o)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(), (b), (c) and () of the ROBARRA (BEEEFRER) RO FE2585
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BAFEZEERTIETHARMEWT :
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
HK$’000 HK$’000
7 Tit%
Fees ok 840 =
Other emoluments: Hin g -
Salaries, bonus, allowances and B - 124 R REDHE
benefits in kind 9,068 5,642
Pension scheme contributions RINE BN 72 63
9,140 5,705
9,980 5,705
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@ BYFHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the AERCNTBUFRTES2REMT

year were as follows:

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL AT
Mr. So Chi Hang HEBEE 120 -
Mr. Lau Lap Yan, John IS AR A 120 -
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen, Franklin FIEERLE 120 -
360 -
On 22 August 2016, Mr. So Chi Hang, Mr. Lau Lap Yan, John RIE—RENAZT-H HEELE -
and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen, Franklin were appointed as the AT AEERFEREARZERALAS
independent non-executive directors of the Company. There VHRTEE - N EFEBREEMTBIEY
were no fees or other emoluments payable to independent TEENAREIEMME -
non-executive directors in the prior year.
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent RAGEHEEMBFRITESHE M
non-executive directors during the year (2016: Nil). & (ZE—F"F |-
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7. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 7. EERFIETBAEME(Z
Remuneration (continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive b)) BTEERTIETHAR
Salaries, Contribution
bonus, to defined
allowance  contribution
and benefits retirement Total
Fees in kind plans remuneration
-
T EBHR
2ER RINETE
e EMFa K BEe

* Mr. Lee Wai Sang is also the chief executive officer of the Company. * FREXLENBERAZ T ETHASL -
During the current and prior years, none of the directors RERMRBAFE BEEEHEAREN
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were REAHE  BAREYEAEMESE M
no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the directors HEERMARKERMARE B 2 ZR)
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as HEEBAHE -

compensation for loss of office.
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Five Highest Paid Employees and Senior
Management’s Emoluments

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2016:
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 7
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one
(2016: one) highest paid employee who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company, are as follows:

hEREFHEERSREEEHE

AERIEARRFMNERBRNA (ZF—AF:
MB)EZF - AMEFIIR EXHET - RAFEHR
—&(CE-RF —R) I HRARAEZRERIT
BABZRRHHES CMEFENT :

Basic salaries, bonus and other benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions

EREFBIHRK

Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

EXGM  EARAMEDN S

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TET
868 854

18 18

886 872

REZHFHBR TIIHER :

Number of employees

RE#EA
2017 2016

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Nil to HK$1,000,000

£ %1,000,000% 1T

During the current and prior years, none of the five highest paid
individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there
were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Senior management’s emoluments excluding

the directors
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management
(excluding the directors) were within the following bands:

Z 1,000,000 7T

One member of senior management whose emoluments is included in
five highest paid individuals as set out in the note above (2016: one
member).

112 e o o 0 O —F—tFEHE Annual Report 2017

1 1

REARBEER  BUBBHMALHENES
REREEABS - BAZEE AR BBHE
ATEHBSEBNAREERMAKE R 2 2
BB -

EREERE (BEERM 2H2

ARREREKE (BRI CHRER MR
RTIEER :

Number of employees

EEHE
2017 2016

3 3

BREREs—EKE(ZE—RF: —ERE)Z
BemAREREMA R RSHMALS -



Notes to Financial Statements

bR e I

TY SN REEEEFEY Y] I NN 1111 I ERENXY)
e s+ s 2000000000808 s . T I Tl T I EEEEY T 1 Il T I TSR EEE N
9. Income Tax Credit/(Expense) 9. FEHER/ (A%
The amount of income tax credit/(expense) in the consolidated statement GABBEREMZERERTAENRES (FAX)
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents: RE:

HK$'000
TET

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is exempted ARARFAEHET MR ER LGN - A8
from income tax. It is not subject to tax in other jurisdictions. AGMEMRAEEENTIEA -

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Company HRERARAER T BEMREEBNERTE
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the Mo R EELEENEHEG -REFE B
year. In the prior year, Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the SR B BB BRI NIZ16.5%H0HEHE
rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. BHEHRER -

SEEEZERERAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® e e o o 113



Notes to Financial Statements

B SR M aE

AR N ERILI I

9. Income Tax Credit/(Expense) (continued) 9.

Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated at the
rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

The income tax credit/(expense) for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before income tax credit/(expense) in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

TEBER/ (FAX) (&

iﬂ@l\ WER TE’WEE%R/M'JE%RIET il Rl 4
HERHEE -

RERZHERES/ (AX) TENGARS
EERERABRAERER/ (FX) A Eﬁﬁ)/
EHEEDT

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEHi A (B8) /5 H (20,860) 16,293
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERBE16.5%
of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) (ZF—7F 1 16.5%) 2B 3,442 (2,688)
Tax effect of different tax rates E’\\,H\‘riﬁﬂ)ﬂg[@ﬂﬁ'lmgﬂﬂ
of subsidiaries operating in TRBRENHRET &
other jurisdictions 34 92
Tax effect of non-taxable income RRBAZBBTE 70 77
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses FAHBRAXZ HBFE (2,460) (2,238)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHEBRZHBRE (1,102) (120)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised PRBARERZHEABR 43 =
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBRREER 267 15
Withholding tax SRl (149) =
Others Hft (4) 77
Income tax credit/(expense) FrahiEe,/ (%) 141 (4,785)
10. Dividends 10. K&

For the year ended 30 June 2016, an interim dividend of HK$110
per ordinary share, or in aggregation of HK$11,000,000 represented
interim dividends declared and paid by a subsidiary of the Company,
CROSSTEC Group Limited to its then shareholders prior to the
completion of the Reorganisation.

For the year ended 30 June 2016, an interim dividend of approximately
HK$40 per ordinary share, or in aggregation of approximately
HK$1,000,000 represented interim dividends declared and paid by a
subsidiary of the Company, CX (Macau) Limited, to its then shareholders
prior to the completion of Reorganisation.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year
ended 30 June 2017.
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(Losses)/earnings
(Losses)/earnings for the purpose of basic
earnings per share

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share (Note)

Notes to Financial Statements

'EE B

(Losses)/Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic (losses)/earnings per share amount is based
on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to the ordinary equity holders
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
2,280,000,000 (2016: 1,800,000,000) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 30 June 2017 and 2016.

The calculation of the basic (losses)/earnings per share attributable to the
ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the following data:

(BR) /&7

ROEE
MET 9L (Ht)
Note:

Weighted average of 1,800,000,000 ordinary shares for the year ended 30 June 2016,
being the number of shares in issue immediately after the completion of capitalisation
issue of shares as detailed in Note 18(b), are deemed to have been issued throughout
the year ended 30 June 2016 and up to 11 September 2016, immediately before the
completion of public offer and placing of shares during the year ended 30 June 2017.

Weighted average of approximately 2,280,000,000 ordinary shares for the year
ended 30 June 2017, is calculated based on the weighted average of approximately
480,000,000 ordinary shares issued immediately after the completion of public
offer and placing of shares during the year ended 30 June 2017 in addition to the
aforementioned 1,800,000,000 ordinary shares for the year ended 30 June 2016.
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BR(FE) /BF
BREA(FR) /BB HRERD AL RRE
BEANEEAEE (BR) S RAFEE#ITY
AR INEF9%02,280,000,0000% (=T — <4
1,800,000,0008% ) 5+ & -

FEEREE_TLFER-TFRA=TH
EEYEAEEEIRE CBRTEBKR -

ARRAEBREREAEEZBRER (BR) /B
MTRBEATEER R

2017 2016

ARAESRELRRN 2 (BR) /&7

HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TR
(20,719) 11,508

Number of shares

2017 2016

UEE
'000 ‘000
T TR
2,280,000 1,800,000

s

BE-F—NENAZFAIFESEBRNETFHEE
1,800,000,000% (1 Z & F it & 7L F7R (7 (£ 2 2
18b) TR EZ EZTTRGHE) DA E =T —NFENA
SFHIFERFEREEF-E-—NEAHF—H (ZBEHT
ZEtENAZF R FEAZRGAFEEREEZR
A1) E#T o

BE-F—+ENA=1HIEESEBRINETFHE B
2,280,000,000 1R L E —F—+FNA=FHIE
ERAZROAFEERLETHEZ BETEBRMETH
Z[#9480,000,000R M L Lt EE =F—NFNA=FHif
/2 21,800,000,000/% ZiEfR -

"R N |
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment 12, W% BERRE
Construction Furniture Office Motor
in progress  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
ERIE HKERKE W HBRAR na a5t
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13. Amounts Due From/(To) Customers for 13. EBW/(ER)EFEHNIRTE

Contract Work

HK$'000
TEL

6,430
1,358

As at 30 June 2017, retentions held by customers for contract work RZE—+EXA=TH IAEUESG LEM
included in trade and other receivables (Note 14) amounted to FE(MF14) 2 RERANIREEZRESRA
HK$2,695,000 (2016: HK$786,000). 2,695,000 7T (ZF — /<4 : 786,000 7T) ©

As at 30 June 2017, advances received from customers for contract work RZE—+F A=Z1+H IAENEZREMK
included in trade and other payables (Note 16) amounted to HK$33,000 E (Mi3E16) 2 BE A S TIZRTEZ B30 A33,000
(2016: HK$Nil). For the year ended 30 June 2007, the revenue and costs BIL(ZE—RE T8 L) - AEEHE-Z—+
of Group's interior solutions projects were amounted to approximately ERA=ZTELFENZEARARTRER ZBA
HK$51,972,000 (2016: 19,426,000) and HK$45,323,000 (2016: BAA D B4 551,972,008 L (ZT— K&
14,811,000) resppectively which were recognised in the consolidated 19,426,000/ 7T) 145,323,000 70 (ZF— R F
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 14,811,00087T) * TERGEABERM 2 EKE

KR
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14. Trade and Other Receivables

Notes:

(i)

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances. Except for one
customer with 60 days credit granted, no credit period is granted by the Group
to its trade customers. Application for progress payments of projects is made on
a regular basis.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented based on the
invoice dates:

e & —T—tFEHL Annual Report 2017

BB Baer+00000000000 0 s RODDORRS s

14, EWESZREMRE

HK$'000
TAT

10,113
2,695
2,646

3,518

it -

(i)

HK$’000
TATL

10,113

BUEGHEITAE  FEEURRZE R EEMAE
R A REEMNEEEREN B —HEFPERTOAE
ERSl 2R EHAME SEPRTERA - ##%E
EETEHEL -

FEE-ERFEREKRERENAE SEEEAREE
HEZBHRENZER  ERLXIABERAREEEE
WEGHBEYREZEF HUBEAFFERAR -

BREGH B R (RERAHZI)ANT -

2016
HK$’000
TAT

3,409

2,585
1,427

54
2,638

10,113
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14. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(continued)
The ageing of trade receivables that are not individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired is as follows:

14, EWESREME

et :

(i)

B 7% I A

IE (Il’
(#)
(%)

WaB A A S TR R Er BN E SR Z
FENT

2017 2016

Neither past due nor impaired BAREHTARE
Less than 1 month past due THRB—EARS
1 to 3 months past due —E=ARBH

More than 3 months past due but less than 12 months
More than one year past due

Ba—FaH

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers
for whom there is no recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to customers
that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management is of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in
respect of these receivables as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the credit risk is minimal.

Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works are released
after the completion of maintenance period of the relevant contracts or in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.

Retention receivables as at 30 June 2017 and 2016 were neither past due nor
impaired and expected to be recovered within 1 year after the reporting period.
These related to customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

The above balances of other receivables, prepayments and deposits as at 30
June 2017 and 2016 were neither past due nor impaired. Financial assets
included in these balances are non-interest bearing and relate to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default.
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ZEARBETEAT @A

(i)

(i)

HK$'000 HK$’000
FEr FAT
2,822 561
1,815 15,200
1,606 2,483
1,232 9,032
2,638 -
10,113 27,276

BERBHIAHEZ EWE 5 BELEEFAR
HHENEFPFE

ERHERFEZ ENEFHRERFETEAR
HRELHRNEPEE - BRBHER EEERS
HERUABRECEFLRERE  WIHRER
ExumE 2L AERAREN -

EPRENTENBZ RECREHAVREDS
RESAREGEE A E TR

REFE—ER-E-NEAA=SH  ENRER
DERBEHTAREL FHTRBGEHEN—FR
Yo o S FEL Y EHRDFEPHE

REF—tFR-F-FENA=FH BB
B BAHBREE ) LAEHRTIER DA
B ZERHBERNEBEET A BT ER
RN FEE
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15. Cash and Cash Equivalents 5. RERALEEY

HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL TEL

Cash and bank balances Re RRTER 38,789 11,235

Time deposits & HE S 30,000 -

Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEED 68,789 11,235
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of the RBEHLEER  AEEUARE (AR &
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$3,915,000 BEzRERBESEMES9150005T(ZF—K
(2016: HK$4,960,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other 1 4,960,000870) - ARBAR Bl BAHEML
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control % AMBREPEAMMEEIRDINEE &
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of ERNEEERTE AEETERREETINER

Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange BzROBARERARHMEE -

RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Certain of the Group’s cash at banks earns interest at floating rates FERERFTZETHREENGBRTEHAE
based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made RYPFRRDNE - RATHER 2 TRFHES
for varying periods of between one day and three months depending NF—-RAZE=AATE RIFEEZAREESE
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest SKME - IR AR RIS B SRR KBRS - 8]
at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances are TRESFRR I RER SR FERITFORTT

deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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16. Trade and Other Payables 16. BREZRHEMHE

HK$'000
TAT

11,326
7,249

7,897

Notes: Mzt -

(a)  An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: @  ENEGHBEZEEINT (RERAF) T

HK$'000
TER

4,998

2,207
2,252

525
1,344

The Group’s trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally have AEENENEGHETiHE  AERIRER R
payment terms of 0 to 90 days. 0Z90A »

(b)  Receipts in advance represented advance payment from the customers b) BUTBEFHAF TEREEAES B FE -
in connection with the contract works and sales. Receipts in advance are BUN R RERRAEEEERAFE—FR
expected to be recognised as revenue of the Group within one year from the WA -
reporting date.

(c)  Other payables under current portion are non-interest bearing and have (c) REEBG T2 EMENFEITHEAFHEES
average payment terms of 31 to 90 days. A3IE90H -

Other payable under non-current portion is non-interest bearing and expected FEREE G T2 EMENFEATHEREABR
to be settled more than twelve months after the reporting period. BEHGEET —{AREE-
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17. Deferred Tax 17. BEHE
Details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements during RAFEZERRBECHBABREDHENT

the year are as follows:

Accelerated
depreciation
allowance

IR E R AR

As at 30 June 2017, certain subsidiaries of the Group had estimated tax AEEETHERARAR-_Z—+tE A=ZTER
losses arising in Hong Kong amounting to approximately HK$7,098,000 BBE AN HIARE17,098,0008 T (ZE—X
(2016: HK$681,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against %F:681,00087T) - ATERBAERHELBRED
their future taxable profits of those companies in which the losses arose. FZERANARERTEN - ARBATKRAT 8

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses ERBEMA AN EENERR S ERLE
as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available BRERRCHELE - HEBRITERALE -

against which the tax losses can be utilised. Tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of ARREERREAR S MBS ERPAEHER -
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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18. Share Capital 18. BR&

100,000,000

24,000,000

A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to the RAFEARBARALBRAZF 2R 5 HAm
movements in the Company’s ordinary share capital is as follows: bk
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18. Share Capital (continued)

Notes:

(@) On 22 August 2016, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$350,000 to HK$100,000,000 by the creation of additional
9,965,000,000 ordinary shares.

(b)  On 12 September 2016, the capitalisation issue was completed. The Company
capitalised an amount of HK$17,999,999 standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company and to appropriate such amount as to
capital to pay up in full at par of 1,799,999,900 ordinary shares of the
Company.

(c)  On 12 September 2016, the Company’s shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange by way of public offer and placing of shares. In
connection with the Listing, 600,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
were issued at HK$0.15.

19. Reserves
The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
each reporting period are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

The nature and purpose of reserves within equity are as follows:

(i) Share premium
Share premium account of the Group represents the excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued.

(i) Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the investment costs in subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the issued share capital of the Group’s subsidiaries.

(iii)  Exchange reserve
It comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

(iv)  Retained profits/(Accumulated losses)
It represents cumulative net profits or losses recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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19.
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(@)

(b)

(c)
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R-FE-NENAZ1FZH ARG EFRFHES
2 A7919,965,000,0004% & 8% T 350,000, T 10
2100,000,000 T °
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AR L AR B R R (E17,999,999% T &
AU HFEEEFERZEETESCLLE]
1,799,999,9008 B2 £ °
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REERG X RBRAER LT - FLTHE 2
2 ]600,000,00088 7 & 388 B 140158 T #7T °
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(i)
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20. Share Option Scheme

Shareholders of the Company have conditionally adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) on 22 August, 2016.

A summary of the Scheme is set out as below:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date on which Scheme becomes
unconditional.

Under the Scheme, a subscription price shall be a price
solely determined by the board of directors and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share on the date of grant of the option.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose,
shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted
but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Company’s shares in issue
as at the listing date or the date of approval of the refreshed limit.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.
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21. Leases 21. #HE
The Group leases certain of its office premises and equipments under FEERBEEHERHBRAETHAZNERR
operating lease arrangements which were negotiated for terms ranging B MBEERA—E/ F (22 —RF: —EN
from one to six years (2016: one to four years). ).
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable TAHELEERE 2 ARSERENF QRN H
operating leases are due as follows: ERmT :
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Not later than one year BB —F 5,298 1,707
Later than one year and not later than five years BA—FEIBRALSF 19,029 2,435
Later than five years BBRF 3,812 =
28,139 4,142
22. Commitments 2. R
Details of the Group’s operating lease commitments are set out in Note AEEGERERE 2 FHEER X1 - R
21 above. The Group has no capital commitment as at 30 June 2017 T—tFRA=TH  FEEREFEREFMERE
(2016: Nil). B(ZT—REF 8-
23. Related Party Transactions 3. BERAIRES
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere (@ BRRESUBBRRAGESHARENRIR
in the consolidated financial statements during the reporting ERON RIREER . REEENATRA
period, the Group entered into the following significant BB ZEARS

transactions with its related parties as follows:

2017 2016

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B E TET THET
Sales of goods to a related company M-EEERRHESE R (i - 863
Purchases of woodwork from related companies s R AREARR (ii) 3,304 4,408
Contract revenue from interior solutions projects KE-RBBARIZEA
from a related company BARNRERZRHBA (i) 5,915 -
Design and project consultancy service income KE—REBARZRTR
from a related company T B AARBERA (iv) 500 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment from a CRil) NG 2/
related company B kR W) 40 252
Disposal of property, plant and M—REETHEDE
equipment to a related party BE L& W) - 125
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23. Related Party Transactions (continued) B BYELERS(B)
(@) (continued) @ (&)
Notes: st
(i) The amount represents sales of goods to Max Furniture Shenzhen (1) EHEERXALALE (FI) ERA A
Company Limited (“Max Furniture”) (2017: HK$Nil; 2016: ([ZAGE]) HEER (—F—+% &
HK$863,000). Mr. Lee Wai Sang has approximately 33.3% beneficial ZEVE 863,0008TT) « FEAELER
interest in Max Furniture. TAGEREHI33%E i
(i) The amount represents purchases of woodwork from Max Furniture i)  HFEEERAX /7f AGR(ZF £
(2017: HK$51,000; 2016: HK$565,000) and Max Contracting Limited 51,0007 i = F = - 565,0005 )
(“Max Contracting”) (2017: HK$3,253,000; 2016: HK$3,843,000). REARGT TRERZ A ([ZARET]) (=
Mr. Lee Wai Sang is a director and has approximately 33.3% beneficial F—+4F 325300087 : = F—
interest in Max Contracting. Mr. Lee Wai Sang also has approximately 3,643, 0008 7) S K28 —7;’5/:;5?7*73*1*/?
33.3% beneficial interest in Max Furniture. FARNEEUREFH333%E 0z
PELALDREAGEEEA333%E 5
it
(i)~ The Company entered into quotations amounted to approximately (iii) AR AEEEEFRA AFTLA7,454,000/
HK$7,454,000 with HFL Limited. The amount represents income from TZHE B TEARR L EEEARE
interior solutions projects (2017: HK$5,915,000; 2016: HK$Nil) from JBEEERAGCENFEATEER (ZF
HEFL Limited recognised during the year. Mr. Lee Wai Sang is a director —+4E 591500087 i ZF—EF %q/éé
of HFL Limited and Mr. Lee Wai Sang and Ms. Leung Mo Shan, Jackie T)ZHA - FEEAFBEEERRLR
have 45% beneficial interests in HFL Limited. ZEEMFELALERIRML 1‘5@)@5@
BIRA GG 45%E i s o
(iv)  The amount represents income from design and project consultancy i) BHLEREXKEEEEERAATEZ
service (2017: HK$500,000; 2016: HK$Nil) from HFL Limited. it RBEZARB YA (ZF—+F -
500,00087T i —F—7F  FET) o
(v)  The amount represents selling price of property, plant and equipment v  FEz&E ff%% AEART (ZF—
from Max Contracting (2017: HK$40,000; 2016: HK$252,000) and 40,0008 + —F—NEF 252, 000/57[)&
to Wealthmood Limited (“Wealthmood”) (2017: HK$Nil; 2016: AEEERAA(EE) (—E—+F F
HK$125,000). Mr. Sandi Lee is a director and has controlling interest in BT ZE—NE 12500057T) 2 £
Wealthmood. BERSBEE  FELALARELF

FUHEEER R -
(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties: b) HEHEBHIIENAERES:

Maximum Maximum
balance balance
outstanding outstanding

during the year during the year

FARE FRRE

REBEER REBER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

Year end balance included in trade ~ stAEKEZREMFHEZ
FRER

and other receivables

Max Furniture EAK(E - 216 216 905
HFL Limited BREEBRAR 250 3,977 - =
Year end balance included in trade ~ FABNEZREMTEZ
and other payables FREEHR
Max Contracting BARNRE 3,503 2,633
(©  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: © ZFEEFZEBRBABZEH:
Details of directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration EERFE ?Eﬁ(/\\%@ﬂ@%&ﬁ%%%%%
and five highest paid employees are included in notes 7 and 8, BEZFHBARERABERRMTIRS

respectively.
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24. Summary of Financial Assets and Financial 24 REHNASzEMEERSMAEN
Liabilities by Category 2
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments REEHEEREESRIAZERAENT
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets TREE
Loans and receivables
EF LR E
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
FATL TET
Financial assets included in trade FABRKESREMFE, SREE
and other receivables 15,454 28,685
Cash and cash equivalents ReELFASEEY 68,789 11,235
84,243 39,920
Financial liabilities tHas

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

DEHRASEZ S RAR

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$’000
TR THEL
Financial liabilities included AARRESREMTIE 2RMEE
in trade and other payables 17,425 32,626
25. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 5. ¢MIAZAYHE
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash EREDNE ReRReZEBY  FAEKES
equivalents, financial assets included in trade and other receivables and REMFEZEREENRARRES REMBR
financial liabilities included in trade and other payables approximate to B eBABZATERAR B REERE
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these ZHRZETAREHANE -
instruments.
The fair value of the non-current portion of deposit has been calculated Be2ERSBHz A TEHEEREEY  FER
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently b kAT RIS REAE 2 TANB ARG X T
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining RBARRSRERRMEGH -
maturities.
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at SREERABCATEEZBREE S FRAHE
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current BEE)ZANENRFTETIANTIANER
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation NN
sale.
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26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group’s principal financial instrument comprises cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of this financial instrument is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables
and trade and other payables, which arise directly from the Group’s
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.
The directors meet periodically to analyse and formulate measures to
manage each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

(i) The Group has certain cash and cash equivalents denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they relate. The Group currently has no particular
hedging vehicles to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk. It
is the Group’s policy to monitor foreign exchange exposure and to
make use of appropriate hedging measures when required.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of
each reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate. The Group
is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of United States dollars
(“USD”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Euros (“EUR”) and Great British
Pound (“GBP”). For presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the
spot rate at the end of each reporting period as follows:

26.

bR e I

BHERREZRRRAR

TEBZIRSRTABEAS NRTAR 1t
BMIAZIRANERAAEEZ 2ERHMES -
TEBERSRANERAERAE MEKES
REMFBARERES REMTE  HERHA
SERXBEL -

FEESRIBELZIZARAIERR FE
Bl MEEBEADECER BEFTHRTE
ARG REAE R RL SRR  ABE
BT X -

ML

i) AREBETHALREEFENNAFEER
BYEREEER DALY - ARER
AUEBTEATANERINERRE - AF
EORRRERINERRILER R RIE
EHERER -

TREIIREMER RESRALRS L
WA ER D EEH E Y DRRAES
SEGERER AEEI TR (2
1) AR ([ ARM) - Bt (T8 )) &
55 (R5)) 88 - HEHTE > HHER
SHBTT (B8 BeE R 2 DMESR) SR
W -

As at 30 June 2017
Cash and cash equivalents

As at 30 June 2016
Cash and cash equivalents

RZZ-tFxA=1H
RERBRLEEN
R-E-~EXA=1A
ReRALEEY

usD RMB EUR GBP
S AR% BT R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TR TERT TET
3,951 3,915 110 1
2,922 4,960 29 33
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26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 26, HEEBREBRERNE (&)
Policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued) HNERE (E)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i)  BEEAN
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the TRITHRREREE AERAAMEES
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Hong BFIAEMELT AEERBIEN (BE
Kong Dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, BEERABZATEERMESL) REE
of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of RSB TEXLRAEAREHE H
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity. RE o
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in Increase/
exchange profit before (decrease)
rate tax in equity*
Bk EH/ BR B AT A =i/
(TF8) Zm/ Cad) (i)

* Excluding retained profits/(accumulated losses) * TaERE SR, (RitkE)

130 e o o o O —_T—tFEHSE Annual Report 2017



Notes to Financial Statements

26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are closely monitored on an ongoing basis to
minimise the Group’s exposure to bad debts.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer and by geographical. The Group has no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances. The Group currently does not have a policy
on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank balances. The analysis is
prepared assuming that the bank balances at the end of each reporting
period were bank balances for the whole year. 25 basis points increase
or decrease represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates of bank balances. In management’s
opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
interest rate risk as the exposures at the end of each reporting period do
not reflect the exposures during each reporting period.
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26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 2. HEEREEBEERIK (£

Policies (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates on bank balances had been 25 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the potential effect on the
Group’s post-tax profit for the years ended 30 June 2017 and 2016 is as
follows:

HREDIN ()
HIRITAROOME LT/ TRSERRAE L #
PREEETE  AHASERE_T—LFR-
T REAAZTALFEZBHREENNEEY
207

2017 2016

Financial liabilities included in trade

HK$'000 HK$’000
FAEL TAEL
Increase/(decrease) in profit for the year/period ER/BRRFIEMN/ (D)
— as a result of increase in interest rate —HRFIE EF 172 28
— as a result of decrease in interest rate —mRFE TR (172) (28)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans and overdrafts,
obligations under finance leases and trust receipt loans. The Group’s
policy is to maintain the Group at a net current asset position.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,
is as follows:

and other payables ZERmBE

The Group obtained a banking facility of HK$20,000,000 which is
secured by the unlimited guarantees from a subsidiary and a charge
over deposits at all times not less than the amount ranged between nil
and HK$15,000,000, which depends on the amount of drawdown of
banking facility.
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On demand

BREX

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TAL
17,425 32,626
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26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained profits/(accumulated losses) as
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and risk
associate with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance the overall capital structure of the
Group through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as
the raising of new bank loans.
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27. Holding Company Statement of Financial 27. ERABzHBRRK
Position
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at AEARARRENLEER L HBRRK ZERD
the end of the reporting period is as follows: bk

HK$'000
TR

* Represent amount of less than HK$1,000 * EIERL0002 T HFE o
m Investment in a subsidiary represents unlisted investment, measured at cost. 0 RE-FIBLAEALTTRE (KA E) -
On behalf of the board of directors REEES
Mr. Lee Wai Sang Mr. Leung Pak Yin
TRERE REAKE
Director Director
EF EF
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27. Holding Company Statement of Financial

Position (continued)
(@) A summary of the Company’s reserve is as

27. ER

bR e I

REAZHBRAK (&)
(@ AXFREIHEMOD:

follows:
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
Rt i B 5 ZitER @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$f000
THER TAER THET
As at 18 March 2016 (Date of incorporation) R-ZZB-RE=ZA+/N\H
(REM A A ) - - -
Loss and total comprehensive income HEEERZARALE
for the period = 2) 2)
As at 30 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 RZB-REXAZTHR
—2-A¥tA-A - ) 2)
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE BB R ZERABE = (3,179) (3,179)
Capitalisation issue of shares ERXeBETRG (18,000) - (18,000)
Issue of share by way of public offer and placing ~ WARFIZE KA E 7 X ETHRH 84,000 - 84,000
Share issuance expenses AR EITHR S (9,385) = (9,385)
As at 30 June 2017 R=F-tF&~A=1H 56,615 (3,181) 53,434
28. Event after Reporting Date 28. BEHREHE
On 11 August 2017, CROSSTEC International Limited, an indirect RZZ—tFENA+T—A ARAHEZENEBL
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (contracting for itself and A SEEBERDR (BERGRASEMEEM
all other members of the Group) as service provider and Mr. Lee Wai Z4=UN )(1’EF5H|§7N¢1 BIRZERELE(ZR
Sang (“Mr. Lee”) (contracting for all companies owned or controlled J)(ﬁE?%iT\H—;%&*ﬁj&T“%UE’]Fﬁ*ﬁ’&ﬂ 2
by Mr. Lee from time to time including all companies which become ERERB W E BB RN REHEE NRREK
associates of Mr. Lee after the date of and during the subsistence AFREZHEANMAERR TXBAEIZKRE
of the master services agreement (the “Lee Group”)) as service B (fEAREERE) RALERNFREENEE
recipient entered into the master services agreement (“Master Services LEBREENRF T RRENRBATR L
Agreement”) in respect of the provision of interior design proposal and TREWE ((ERERE]) EFBEEALFEN
interior design solutions by the Group for the restaurants of Lee Group FEIRRIE Ft F RIS s IR BT 2 55
in Hong Kong, which shall be for a term commencing from the date of BRER S (RERSFELR) 2AMR BEE-
the Company’s obtaining the independent shareholders’ approval on T-ZTFRRA=TH
the aforesaid Master Services Agreement and the continuing connected
transactions contemplated thereunder (including proposed annual caps)
and ending on 30 June 2020.
Given that Mr. Lee is an executive Director and a controlling ﬁ.ﬂ%ﬁ%&%%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ$ BRI R - RIE L
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Lee and his associates are connected MHRAE14A07(RAE  ZTREREBEALA
persons of the Company under Rules 14A.07(1) and (4) of the Listing $ TZF@@}\i Kil}iza Al E B
Rules. The transactions between the members of the Group and RERBEEREBETET IR B BEER
members of Lee Group under the Master Services Agreement will m%ﬁﬁ‘J EUAZBIE T 2 A RAIBEBER S -
therefore constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11 FEBLHALAHEAZE—+FNAT—RAZ
August 2017 and the circular of the Company dated 29 September 2017. AERKADABEA-T—tENAZTIAZE
PT_(I o
Save as disclosed above, there are no other significant events which b P EEN T+ FRAZTHEBETES
have taken place subsequent to 30 June 2017. EHBEREE -
29. Approval of Financial Statements 29. BUEMBHRE
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 BT —tF A= TRLFEZEAVEREE

were approved for issue by the directors on 29 September 2017.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hEBKEE
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A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group ~ AEBSAAETRFENEEUREE  BERAEH

for the last five financial years is as follows: BEMT
GROUP RESULTS REEEE

Year ended 30 June
BEXRA=tHLEE
2015 2014
HK$'000
FHET

99,094

GROUP ASSETS AND LIABILITIES rEBEERER

As at 30 June
RAB=t+H

HK$'000
TEL

5,629
90,052

Wit FEEEE_F-=F —F-HER-F-RFENA=TH

Note: The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for each of the three years
ended 30 June 2013, 2014 and 2015 and the assets, equity and liabilities as at 30 = FEEFLE £4 ‘Zﬂgﬁi“_f—:i —F-m

FR-F-RFAAZFHANRE  BRREEDHEEL

June 2013, 2014 and 2015 have been extracted from the Group’s prospectus dated 30
EHOYE-F-—NE\ A= ANERER -

August 2016.
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Definitions

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the HEZRFERETR BIXEZEHEN THIFAZEEU
following expressions shall have the following meanings. THE -

“Articles of Association” or “Articles”

[ER240 R ) k[ 408

“Audit Committee”

[BE%EREE]

“Board”

(Exg]
“Board Diversity Policy”

[EFEXEZTTIEBR]

“CG Code”
[ E7aF Al

“CGH (BVI)”

[CGH (BVI)]

“Chairman”

[E/%]

“Chief Executive Officer”
[1TH 4R

“China” or “PRC”

[P Bl

“Company”

RAVNCTR

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to
time

ARRARMERAY (B IREF)

the audit committee of the Board

E=eNELERES

the board of Directors

=

the board diversity policy of the Company adopted by the Board on
22 August 2016

BEFeR T R"FNANAZTZBARANEARFAEFEKESZ TL
R

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, as amended from time to time

LR RIS+ AT E R [ R EE AT A (B ARER])

CGH (BVI) Limited, a company established in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability on 17 March 2016, which is owned by
each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung as to 50%

CGH (BVI) Limited * =R T - RF=A++HHEEABHERES
MW EREERR > DRIBRFRERRREIHEF0%ER

the chairman of the Board

EXEER

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRAETTEAREL

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual
report and for geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan

REARANE  ERAFEREMRENTS - TRETE &
FkaE

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (%#&&%EZEABRAE]), an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 18 March 2016, and registered as a non-Hong Kong
company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) on 13 June 2016, the Shares of which are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
SEREEZERERAR  —BR-ZZE—R"F=A+/\BERAEHS
MR ERRBRAR YR T RNFXRNAT=ZHREAQTF
GOIFE 1688 (BEARIEDIE 622 B) B RIFEBFTBERR - HROHNBR
FrEMR £
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“Company Secretary”

[REIMWE]

”

“Controlling Shareholder(s)

[ 422 % % 3R |

“CROSSTEC International”
[ 5 @& B
“Director(s)”

[E=%]

“ESG Report”
[(RIE - HEREBME]

“Group”
[ & E ]

“HK$" or “HKD”
[Tl ek [7B %]

“Hong Kong”
(&%)

“1PO”
[BERAFEE]

“Lee Group”

[FR&EH]

“Listing”
[
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the company secretary of the Company

RRFHREIME

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules, and in the
context of the Company, means the controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely, Mr. Lee, Ms. Leung and CGH (BVI)

AR LMARABTHEE  MALARRNBERME - NA B EIEREK
RIEF A - RL L CGH (BV))

CROSSTEC International Limited (BEBEKERRLDF), a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

ZBREBRERAR —ERBEIMRINAEREERR - BARA
B = EN B A A

the director(s) of the Company
AAFIMES

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B B REARE

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

RRAE RETFEHMNE R

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEEERET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
T EIE B R RITT R

The Company’s initial public offering of its Shares
RRARROERAREE

all companies owned or controlled by Mr. Lee from time to time
including all companies which become associates of Mr. Lee
after the date of and during the subsistence of the Master Services
Agreement, except for the Group, which are mainly engaged in the
operation of restaurants, without engaged in business which may
compete directly or indirectly with the core business of the Group
HEEETKEAREFNOAE AR (AEERI) - BERERSE
HEARRENERBGHEERBEXNRSFTREZBEANAER
Al HIBUEEEER  UVERFUREAKRERZOEBBKRER
HEEBFOER

the listing of Shares on the main board of the Stock Exchange

RN ABE AP EAR ETR



Definitions

“Listing Date” 12 September 2016, on which the Shares are listed and from which
dealings therein are permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

[ b7 B H  SE-RAFAATZRE BORBRALTEAFEENAS

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(as amended from time to time)

[EmARA B BRXAEFLWARR(EAEER])

“Macau” the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC

[RFT] ¥ PEDRPIRRITTER

“Master Services Agreement” the master services agreement entered into between CROSSTEC

International (contracting for itself and all other members of the
Group) as service provider and Mr. Lee (contracting for Lee Group)
as service recipient on 11 August 2017 for the provision of interior
design proposal and interior design solutions by the Group for
the restaurants of Lee Group in Hong Kong, which shall be for
a term commencing from the date of the Company’s obtaining
the independent shareholders’ approval on such agreement and
the continuing connected transactions contemplated thereunder
(including the proposed annual caps) and ending on 30 June 2020
[ AR %5 th % B ZRER(BEAFRAKEMEHEMKERR) EARBIEED)
HERLE (REREE) FARBERE)R-_F—tF\A+—H
ETTLZ‘IHW%WJE%' SERASERAFREERTE ZEHBEMR
NRFTRMEARFBRTERE /EQE'EHHH#QZ’X A ES 98 3 B
??ﬁt/ﬁ&ﬁ% R ETZHERERS (BEEEFELR)Z
ElHHi EI—?—?E'E/\E +EI

“Model Code” the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

R 57 Al B LETRBIMSETAEN LTRERTAERETESRRSNERETA

“Mr. Lee” Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Ff&4), the Chairman, executive Director,

the chief executive officer of the Company and a Controlling
Shareholder

(A ¥ FEREEXRLE IFE BTEF ARBTHAEERERRE

“Ms. Leung” Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (%), the spouse of Mr. Lee and a
Controlling Shareholder

[R%2+ ] B REMZL FEEZESGMERBR

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Company
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Definitions
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“Prospectus”

[ EE]

“Remuneration Committee”
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“Risk Management Committee”

(RREREZES

“RMB"
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“Share(s)
[A% 5 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[P 5 |

“Share Option Scheme”
[T &)

“Stock Exchange”
432 1

”U.S.N
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//USD//
v

“Year”

[RFE

" 0/0 ”

[% |

140 e o o © ® =—m—tEEH:E Annual Report 2017

the prospectus of the Company dated 30 August 2016
ARARBMA-Z—RENA=THNHBKRER

the remuneration committee of the Company

ARAMFMEES

the risk management committee of the Company

ARRIWEAREEERZES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEBARYE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

BHEBAEGRD (BEEFES71E)  KARER] - FFAAEMTT
B

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company
AABRRAFEFREE.ONE TH T B

holder of Share(s)
BHEEA

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on
22 August 2016
ARRARZZE-RFENAZT - BB GRERANERET 2

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMARHAARRA

United States
ENBER

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XBEAEERET

the year ended 30 June 2017
BE_Z—+tFNA=Z1tHLFE

per cent.
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¢ new project location

www.crosstec.com.hk
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